Syracuse University

SURFACE at Syracuse University

Dissertations - ALL

SURFACE at Syracuse University

1-24-2024

Bullying Involvement and Depression Among Youth with ADHD: Is Positive Parenting Protective?

Jessica A. Simmons Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/etd

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Simmons, Jessica A., "Bullying Involvement and Depression Among Youth with ADHD: Is Positive Parenting Protective?" (2024). *Dissertations - ALL*. 1853. https://surface.syr.edu/etd/1853

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the SURFACE at Syracuse University at SURFACE at Syracuse University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations - ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE at Syracuse University. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Abstract

Background: Youth with attention deficit / hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are at increased independent risk for bullying involvement *or* depression yet the topic of bullying involvement *and* depression in ADHD is poorly understood and largely considered without a guiding theoretical framework. Research on the relation between ADHD and bullying is still in its early stages and less is known about the risk and protective factors that may contribute to the development or buffering of depression in these youth. Family factors such as positive parenting promote resilience in children with ADHD, help reduce the risk for youth depression and help to protect youth from bullying involvement. However, to date, no research has considered how positive parenting might be associated with depression and bullying involvement in youth who have ADHD. The current study investigated associations between bullying frequency and depression severity among youth with and without ADHD and the influence of positive parenting.

Method: Thirty eight thousand two hundred twenty-one surveys of children and adolescents between the ages of 6 and 18 completed by parents and caregivers as part of the 2018 and 2019 National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) administrations were included in the current study. The NSCH is a large cross-sectional survey of children and adolescents living in the United States and provides yearly nationally representative estimates of key indicators of child health and well-being. Households were randomly sampled and contacted by mail to identify those with children under 18 years old. For the purpose of this study, information regarding children's mental health (including child ADHD and depression status), bullying involvement, parenting factors, and demographics of youth aged 6 - 17 were examined.

Results: Chi-square tests of independence were conducted to establish external validity of the NSCH sample (Aim 1). Results suggested that youth with ADHD were more likely to be engaged in bullying, particularly as victims and bully-victims, than youth without ADHD. External validity was also established as adolescents with ADHD were more likely to have depression than youth without ADHD, and independent of ADHD, adolescents had higher rates of depression and bully perpetration than children. Children had higher rates of victimization and bully-victimization. Multinomial logistic regressions were conducted to determine if there were positive associations between bullying frequency and depression severity in ADHD and non-ADHD groups (Aim 2). Analyses revealed general trends of positive associations between bully perpetration frequency, bullied frequency and bully-victims and depression severity. ADHD youth generally had increased risk for depression, especially bully-victims with ADHD. Aim 3 examined whether bullying frequency and positive parenting were associated with depression severity. Multinomial logistic regressions revealed an overall trend of positive associations between bullying frequency and depression severity and positive parenting as protective. Ordinal logistic regressions were conducted to assess for positive associations between bully involvement, positive parenting, ADHD and depression severity and protective effects of positive parenting. ADHD moderated the effect of depression most for victim youth. Positive parenting was generally protective across bullying roles, though not significantly more protective for ADHD youth compared to non-ADHD youth.

Discussion: Results largely supported positive associations between all roles of bullying involvement and depression severity for non-ADHD youth. While it was hypothesized that ADHD would moderate associations between bullying frequency and depression severity, our findings did not entirely support this. Infrequent bully perpetrating youth with ADHD were less likely to have mild depression than their non-ADHD peers. Victim youth with ADHD were more likely to have mild and moderate-to-severe depression than their non-ADHD peers, suggesting that victim youth with ADHD are especially vulnerable to depression. Bully-victim youth with ADHD were at increased risk of having mild and moderate-to-severe depression relative to non-bully-victim youth without ADHD. Results on positive parenting were difficult to interpret due to small cell sizes and lack of variability across data. Among ADHD and non-ADHD youth, positive parenting was protective. Findings largely revealed negative associations between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity. Positive parenting did not appear to be more protective among youth with ADHD than youth without ADHD, however ADHD did moderate the risk of depression among bully perpetrators, victim youth, and bully-victims.

Bullying Involvement and Depression Among Youth with ADHD: Is Positive Parenting

Protective?

by

Jessica A. Simmons

B.A. Southern Connecticut State University, 2010

M.A. University of Arizona, 2014

Dissertation

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Clinical Psychology

Syracuse University

December 2023

Copyright © Jessica A. Simmons 2023 All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Kevin Antshel, committee members, Dr. Katie Kidwell and Dr. Andrew London, and dissertation chair, Dr. Linda Sun for their support and feedback throughout the dissertation process. I would like to especially thank Dr. London for his generosity, kindness, and time in providing guidance on the statistical analyses throughout this project.

Table of Contents

Page
Introduction1
Method15
Participants15
Procedures15
Measures16
Statistical Analyses
Results25
Discussion44
Implications
Limitations/Future Directions64
Tables
Appendix
References101
Vita124

List of Tables

Table		Page
1.	Participant Demographic Characteristics	68
2.	Parenting Constructs	71
3.	Planned Analyses	72
4.	Aim 1, Hypothesis 1, ADHD and Bully Involvement	73
5.	Aim 1, Hypothesis 2, ADHD and Depression	74
6.	Aim 1, Hypothesis 3, Depression and Bullying in Children and Adolescents	75
7.	Aim 2, Hypothesis 1, Bully Involvement Frequency and Depression Severity	76
8.	Aim 2, Hypothesis 2, Bully Involvement, ADHD, and Depression Severity	.77
9.	Aim 3, Hypothesis 1, Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity	79
10. Aim 3, Hypothesis 2, Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, ADHD, and Depression81		
	(Yes/No)	
A1	. Aim 2, Hypothesis 1, Frequencies of Bully Involvement and Depression Severity	94
A2	. Aim 2, Hypothesis 2, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, ADHD, and Depression	95
	Severity	
A3	Aim 3, Hypothesis 1, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and	97
	Depression Severity	
A4	Aim 3, Hypothesis 2, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, ADHD	.99
	and Depression (Yes/No)	

Bullying Involvement and Depression Among Youth with ADHD: Is Positive Parenting Protective?

Within the past decade, youth bullying has been labeled a public health problem (CDC, 2015). The prevalence of youth bullying involvement (as a perpetrator, victim or both) is estimated to be 19% (CDC, 2018). Media reports of youth impacted by bullying have brought considerable public awareness to the topic; parents are particularly concerned about the associated negative psychological consequences (especially depression) which accompany bullying involvement (Clarke, 2017). Youth depression prevalence rates have also increased in the past decade and now exceed 11% (Mojtabai et al., 2016). Not surprisingly, parents identify bullying and depression as the two largest concerns they have for their children (Pew Research Center, 2015). Thus, efforts to further understand bullying involvement and depression have considerable public health value.

Attention deficit / hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a childhood-onset disorder which continues to increase in prevalence, with some estimates indicating 11% of youth in the United States have ever been diagnosed with ADHD (Visser et al., 2014). Youth with ADHD are at increased independent risk for bullying involvement (McQuade et al., 2018) and depression (Biederman et al., 2006) yet the topic of bullying involvement and depression *together* within an ADHD population has historically been far less well studied (Zych et al., 2019). Due to its high prevalence rate as well as the independent associations ADHD has with bullying involvement and depression, efforts to understand bullying involvement and depression in ADHD is a clinically significant topic.

Given the challenges that children with ADHD experience across contexts (Bauermeister et al., 2007), better understanding protective factors which might mitigate the risk for bullying

involvement and depression in youth with ADHD is particularly important (Monopoli et al., 2020). Family factors such as positive parenting and parent involvement promote resilience in children with ADHD (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2016; Modesto-Lowe et al., 2008). These same parent-level protective factors have also been found to buffer youth from involvement in bullying (Jackson et al., 2017) including those with depressive symptoms (Hall & Chapman, 2018; Shortt & Spence, 2006), as well as ADHD (Rajendran et al., 2016). For example, there is some evidence that parental warmth and autonomy supportive behaviors serve as a protective factor against bullying involvement in ADHD (Rajendran et al., 2016). Other areas of parenting (e.g., parent-child communication, problem solving techniques) are also mutable and may form the basis for interventions that have not yet been examined in youth with ADHD.

Brief Review of the Literature

Bullying

Bullying is defined as a repetitive aggressive behavior that occurs in an unequal power dynamic between a bully (i.e., perpetrator) and victim (i.e., target) (Olweus, 1993). These interactions are fueled by a bully using a victim's vulnerabilities (e.g., physical strength, social status, appearance, learning problems, family problems) to devalue the victim, making it harder for the victim to respond or cope with the negative interaction (Swearer & Hymel, 2015). Bullying behavior can be enacted through different forms of aggressive behavior, such as physical, verbal, or relational. For example, physical bullying typically describes a situation when a bully confronts a victim face-to-face with a physical action (e.g., hitting, kicking, taunting verbal threats) (Olweus, 1993). Verbal bullying includes name calling and threats, while relational bullying is less obvious and can include spreading rumors, gossiping, and social manipulation and exclusion (Craig et al., 2009; Miller & Vaillancourt, 2007; Olweus, 1993). Physical bullying is more common in younger children (Björkqvist et al., 1992) whereas verbal and relational bulling are more prevalent in older children and adolescents due to gains in social awareness and normative expectations (Nishina et al., 2005). Overall, age trends for bullying involvement suggest that bullying behavior has been observed as early as preschool (~4 to 5 years old), peaks during the middle school years (~10 to 14 years old) and declines near the later years of high school (~16 to 18 years old) (Currie, 2012; Espelage & Swearer, 2003; Vaillancourt et al., 2010).

Bullying and psychopathology. Studies have long found associations between bullying involvement and psychopathology, both concurrently and prospectively. Specifically, longitudinal studies have found that bullying involvement (i.e., perpetrator, victim, and bully-victim roles) is associated with subsequent depression diagnosis (Copeland et al., 2013; Takizawa et al., 2014) and multiple associated features of depression, including suicidal ideation and attempts (Brunstein Klomek et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2005; Yen et al., 2014), social withdrawal and low self-esteem (Darney et al., 2013). Cross-sectional studies have also reported concurrent associations between bullying involvement and mental health difficulties (e.g., depression), though do not reflect a causal relationship or infer directionality (Singham et al., 2017).

Children who both bully others and are bullied by others (i.e., "bully-victims") have the poorest outcomes and are at the greatest risk for depression and depressive symptoms (Copeland et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2016). Bully-victims are often perceived as outcasts and tend to provoke negative reactions from others (Juvonen et al., 2003). Additionally, they are less likely to report having significant peer relationships (O'Brennan et al., 2009), report more loneliness (Georgiou & Stavrinides, 2008; Toblin et al., 2005), and have fewer friends than

bullies and victims (Smokowski & Kopasz, 2005; Unnever, 2005). Bully-victims have higher rates of ADHD (Schwartz, 2000; Verlinden et al., 2015) compared to children not involved in bullying, as well as bullies and victims.

Bullying theory. Youth involved in bullying behavior (both perpetration and victimization) exhibit more psychological and behavioral problems than youth who are not involved in bullying (Casper & Card, 2017; deLara, 2019). To better understand the relationship between bullying and psychopathology, Swearer and Hymel (Swearer & Hymel, 2015) developed a bullying theory based upon social ecological (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) and diathesis-stress models. Their bullying model proposes that psychopathology, like depression, results from the interaction between individual differences/biological vulnerabilities (i.e., diatheses) and environmental stressors (e.g., negative life event, experience of bullying as a victim or perpetrator).

ADHD is a diathesis for bullying involvement. Compared to their typically developing peers, youth with ADHD are more likely to be involved in bullying as victims (Schoeler et al., 2019; Sciberras et al., 2012), perpetrators (Holmberg & Hjern, 2008; Hu et al., 2016; Verlinden et al., 2015) and bully-victims (Mayes et al., 2015; Wiener & Mak, 2009). Impulsivity and poor emotion regulation (Diamantopoulou et al., 2005) and weak social skills and emotion regulation (Murray-Close et al., 2010) each contribute to youth with ADHD being disliked by their peers and subsequently, to increased risk of being bullied and/or bullying others (Taylor et al., 2010; Zych et al., 2019). The awareness of being disliked, in turn, can affect self-esteem and increase feelings of loneliness (Oldehinkel et al., 2007), further increasing the risk of being victimized or reacting as a perpetrator in a cyclical, negative feedback loop (Bong et al., 2021; Swearer & Hymel, 2015). Thus, when viewed from the Swearer and Hymel (2015) model, ADHD and its

associated features represents a diathesis for bullying involvement, both as a perpetrator and a victim.

ADHD and **Depression**

Youth with ADHD demonstrate functional impairments across multiple domains (e.g., social, family, and academic domains) and decreased quality of life compared to youth without ADHD (Bussing et al., 2010; Molina et al., 2009). Among the impairments that youth with ADHD experience, perhaps the most impactful are those in the social domain (Mikami, 2010). Youth with ADHD are often impaired in their abilities to appropriately interact with peers and struggle to make and maintain friendships (Hoza, 2007). Additionally, social impairments are the most resistant to intervention (Hoza, 2007) and have more negative distal consequences into adulthood than other ADHD-associated impairments (see (Shaw et al., 2012) for review).

The positive relationship between interpersonal impairments and depression is particularly well-established in the youth ADHD literature (e.g., (Biederman et al., 2008; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Meinzer et al., 2016). ADHD symptoms can disrupt peer relationships for those with ADHD and lead to depression (Hoza et al., 2005). In fact, nearly 30% of youth with ADHD meet criteria for depression (Bauermeister et al., 2007; Hassan et al., 2013). Children and adolescents who meet criteria for both ADHD and depression are more functionally impaired than youth who meet criteria for either disorder alone (Biederman et al., 2008).

ADHD and depression theory. As a way to understand this common comorbidity, Meinzer and colleagues (2014) developed an ADHD and depression theory which describes two pathways to depression in youth with ADHD. One pathway suggests that comorbidity is based upon similar etiological variables which contribute to both disorders. Meinzer and colleagues posit that ADHD and depression are both heritable and have large genetic overlap (Cole et al., 2009), associated with low reward responsivity (Scheres et al., 2007), deficits in emotion regulation (Barkley, 1997; Compas et al., 2009; Walcott & Landau, 2004) and with parents who demonstrate low interpersonal warmth (Humphreys et al., 2013; Ostrander & Herman, 2006).

The second pathway to depression suggested by Meinzer and colleagues posits that depression comorbidities are secondary to the associated functional impairments commonly reported in ADHD (Meinzer et al., 2014). Specifically, youth with ADHD often experience a number of functional impairments which mediate the relationship between ADHD symptoms and depression (Humphreys et al., 2013; Meinzer et al., 2013). For example, social impairments youth with ADHD encounter are well documented. Symptoms of ADHD are related to interpersonal problems (Wiener & Mak, 2009), low acceptance by classmates (Roy et al., 2015; Tseng et al., 2014), and problems getting along with family members (Lifford et al., 2008). Additionally, youth with ADHD often display behaviors that are seen as generally aversive (i.e., loud, intrusive, annoying; (McQuade & Hoza, 2015). These social impairments mediate the relationship between ADHD and depression (Meinzer et al., 2014). Notably, youth with ADHD who are involved in either victimization or perpetration of bullying also experience elevated symptoms of depression (Hu et al., 2016; Roy et al., 2015). Thus, in the context of Meinzer and colleagues' ADHD: depression theory, bullying involvement is consistent with the second pathway between ADHD and depression.

Protective Factors in ADHD

Meinzer and colleague's (2014) theory on ADHD and depression posits that youth's social impairments (e.g., bullying involvement) may be one way to explain ADHD and depression comorbidity. Youth with ADHD vary considerably in the severity and onset of

functional impairments, as well as in the development of comorbid psychiatric disorders (Wåhlstedt et al., 2009). Research on protective factors can help identify developmental epochs when protective factors may be more or less important and, in turn, help to inform prevention and intervention efforts (Zimmerman et al., 2013). Nonetheless, research on protective factors in ADHD is in its infancy (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2016) and more research is needed to better understand putative protective factors for depression and bullying involvement, outcomes commonly associated with ADHD.

The Role of Parenting. Both within and outside the ADHD literature, the influence of family and parenting factors on children's development, self-concept, and social functioning is widely accepted. Attachment theory suggests that the relationships formed in the early years of one's life influence and guide feelings, thoughts, and expectations about ourselves and our relationships with others (Ebrahimi et al., 2017; Wilhelm, 2016). For example, children with a secure attachment to parents and caregivers (e.g., feelings of support and security) tend to have higher levels of confidence and satisfaction and lower levels of conflict in interpersonal relationships. Those with less secure attachment or avoidance attachment style (e.g., rejecting and unsupported by parents) are at risk for lower levels of satisfaction and more conflict in their relationships (Collins et al., 2002). Further, strained relationships between parents and children can spark feelings of inadequacy, self-criticism, and depression among youth and influence how well they are able to get along with others (Besser & Priel, 2003; Ebrahimi et al., 2017).

Children learn social behaviors (e.g., interacting and responding to others) from observing those around them, very often their parents. Thus, understanding associations between parent behavior, parent-child relationships and social behaviors is important. The parenting literature often describes parenting behaviors and styles as either "positive" or "negative."

7

Positive parenting behaviors (e.g., high in warmth and support and moderate in control) are optimal for healthy social development in youth and associated with higher levels of peer acceptance, lower levels of peer rejection (Clark & Ladd, 2000; Hurt et al., 2007; Kaiser et al., 2011), and less bullying involvement overall (for a meta-analysis see Lereya et al., 2013). Negative parenting behaviors (e.g., criticism, aggression, neglect) are associated with social problems and conflict among youth, such as bullying or victimization, peer rejection and aggression towards peers (Hurt et al., 2007; Kaiser et al., 2011). More specific parenting characteristics such as poor parent-child communication and problem solving have also been associated with youth depression (Sheeber et al., 2000). For children already susceptible to depression, a negative self-perception, and peer conflict through functional impairments associated with ADHD, positive parenting factors have significant potential to protect them from additional negative consequences (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2016).

The Role of Parenting in ADHD. As in the broader literature, parenting behaviors and the parent-child relationship also have a significant impact on the lives of youth with ADHD. Nonetheless, ADHD symptoms in children lead to functional impairments which challenge the quality of parenting that occurs between a parent and child, sacrificing the parent-child relationship. Parents of children with ADHD often report higher stress than parents of children who do not have ADHD (Theule et al., 2011; Tripp et al., 2007). Research on ADHD and parenting suggests that negative parenting behaviors are often triggered by stress and burnout (for a meta-analysis see (Theule et al., 2013). ADHD behavior in youth is a known contributor to parenting stress, as impairments across multiple contexts require increased parent attention and heighten demands of parents' time, resources, and overall stress levels (Dupaul et al., 2001). In turn, elevated levels of stress negatively affect the quality of parenting that occurs between parent and child (Abidin, 1992; Belsky, 1984; Crnic & Ross, 2017), potentially worsening negative behavior from the child (Joyner & Green, 2009).

Given this parent-child dynamic, it is not surprising that parents of youth with ADHD report experiencing poorer relationships with their children and using less effective parenting practices (Bauermeister et al., 2005; McLaughlin & Harrison, 2006; Whalen et al., 2011). Unfortunately, less effective parenting practices can elicit a negative bidirectional relationship between parents' behaviors towards their child's ADHD symptoms. This bidirectional and cyclical relationship by which the child's behavior affects the parent's behavior toward the child, which in turn affects the child's future behavior, is consistent with Patterson's family coercion theory (Patterson, 1982). Patterson's theory also suggests that over time, parents learn to withdraw to avoid negative interactions with their children. For example, a parent might engage in negative parent practices as a function of feeling frustrated with their child. These negative parenting practices then elicit negative behavior from the child, which then elicits less effective parenting in response (Breaux & Harvey, 2019). This negative feedback loop can carry over into domains outside of the family, such as school and within youths' relationships with teachers and peers (Granic & Patterson, 2006).

Parenting, ADHD, and Depression. Despite well-established associations between effective and ineffective parenting behaviors and behaviors of youth with ADHD, few studies have examined effects of the parent-child relationship or how parent behaviors (e.g., parent-child communication, problem solving) may contribute to high comorbidity rates between ADHD and depression in youth. A few studies have reported that low interpersonal warmth between parent and child is associated with depression in ADHD (Humphreys et al., 2013; Ostrander & Herman, 2006). Likewise, Hipwell and colleagues (Hipwell et al., 2008) found that low parental warmth and harsh punishment predicted depression symptoms in girls with ADHD.

Other studies in the broader, non-ADHD child literature have found conflicting results. For example, Kopala-Sibley et al. (Kopala-Sibley et al., 2017) found no significant link between parenting styles (i.e., authoritarian and permissive) and internalizing symptoms in young children (aged 3 to 9 years). Similarly, in a sample of adolescents, Reitz and colleagues (Reitz et al., 2006) found no significant link between parenting behaviors and depressive symptoms. On the other hand, older studies within the broader youth depression literature have suggested that negative parenting behaviors and family styles breed negative schemas and cognitive styles known to be associated with depression in children (Beck & Young, 1985; Ostrander & Herman, 2006; Randolph & Dykman, 1998). Further, negative schemas and cognitive styles about self and others have been linked to self-esteem, and poor self-esteem to depression. For example, one cross-sectional study found that self-esteem partially mediated the relationship between perceived parental rejection and depressive symptoms in adolescence (Robertson & Simons, 1989). For youth with ADHD who already face several adversities, particularly in the social domain, low self-esteem may substantially increase their risk of depression. Thus, examining mediating effects of a wider variety of parenting behaviors may help to better inform protective factors and effective parenting in this population.

Parenting, ADHD, and Bullying. Research on the association between bullying involvement (bully, victim, and bully-victim) and parenting styles within youth ADHD is sparse. In one study, Rajendran and colleagues (2016) examined the influence of parenting styles on bullying behavior (i.e., perpetrator behavior only) among youth with ADHD or ODD. Results suggested that children of parents who granted more autonomy exhibited reduced bullying

behavior over time. Despite assessing for other parenting behaviors (i.e., parent negative affect, emotionally supportive parenting, and quality of parent-child interactions), support for child autonomy remained the only significant predictor. While this study provides support for assessing the influence of parenting behavior on bullying perpetration, the young ages of participants might help explain the largely null findings. For example, child participants were between 4 and 9 years old, yet bullying behavior peaks in middle school (i.e., between 10 and 14 years old) (Currie, 2012; Espelage & Swearer, 2003). Thus, it is plausible that these younger children had less exposure and opportunity to engage in bullying behaviors than would have older children. Had the study included a wider age range of children and adolescents, parent behaviors may have had more influence on youth involvement in bullying perpetration.

Similar findings were concluded by Kawabata and colleagues (2012) in a study on Taiwanese youth. Maternal overprotection moderated the relationship between hyperactivity and negative peer relationships among students with ADHD, though "bullying behavior" was not specifically named within "negative peer relationships." Maternal affection, however, moderated the association between attention problems and "school social problems" (i.e., bullying, aggression, and peer rejection) in students between 7th and 9th grade, though not for younger students (i.e., grades 1-6) (Kawabata et al., 2012). Unfortunately, the measure used to assess bullying behaviors (i.e., Social Adjustment Inventory for Children and Adolescents (SAICA)) did not distinguish between students' roles in bullying, thus it is impossible to know if maternal affection was most impactful for children who are identified as bullies, victims, or both.

As for the role of victimization, Taylor and colleagues (2020) found that child victimization was significantly negatively correlated with parenting stress/parental isolation (i.e., degree of social support) and mood (i.e., negative affect), suggesting that high ratings of child bully victimization was associated with parents endorsing more isolation and negative affect (Taylor et al., 2020). While informative, these results must be interpreted with caution given the study's small sample size (N = 29). Most recently, Efton and colleagues (Efron et al., 2021) longitudinally assessed whether parenting factors (i.e., self-efficacy, warmth, anger, and consistency) could predict bully victimization in 8 and 9 year old children with and without ADHD. Results conflicted with Taylor et al. (Taylor et al., 2020) in that none of the parenting behaviors fit into their model to predict victimization. Rather, the strongest independent predictor of victimization was teacher-rated conduct problems, followed by medication use. Similar to Rajendran and colleagues (2016), the young ages of participants may have attenuated findings related to parenting. More research is needed to understand the relationship between parenting behaviors and bullying within the context of ADHD (Rajendran et al., 2016).

Currently, there do not appear to be any studies that have examined parenting behaviors and the bully-victim role within the context of ADHD. However, in a broader meta-analysis of parenting behavior and the risk of becoming a bully-victim (Lereya et al., 2013), bully-victims were more likely to be exposed to negative parenting behavior than non-bully-victims, with small to medium effect sizes (0.13-0.68). Additionally, they found that positive parenting, operationalized across included studies by "authoritative parenting, parent-child communication, parental involvement and support, supervision, warmth and affection" (pp. 1093 &1098), was protective against peer victimization with small to moderate effect sizes (-0.17 to -0.42).

The Role of Parenting in ADHD, Depression, and Bullying Involvement. Due to the high prevalence rate of ADHD, as well as the independent associations ADHD has with bullying involvement and depression, efforts to understand bullying involvement and depression in

ADHD is a clinically significant topic (Simmons & Antshel, 2020). It is therefore surprising that this topic has been historically less well examined (Zych et al., 2019).

While a notable comorbidity exists between ADHD and depression (Hoza et al., 2005), not all children with ADHD will develop depression. Similarly, while youth with ADHD are more likely to be involved in bullying than their non-ADHD peers (Mayes et al., 2015; Schoeler et al., 2019; Verlinden et al., 2015), not all children with ADHD bully others or experience victimization. The parent-child relationship and parenting behaviors have long been considered important in children's social development. Given the functional impairments, behavior problems, and heightened parenting stress associated with ADHD, the implementation of effective and positive parenting strategies can be difficult for parents. At the same time, positive parenting is among the strongest factors promoting resilience in children with ADHD (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2016) and protecting youth from further negative consequences, including depression (Hipwell et al., 2008; Humphreys et al., 2013; Ostrander & Herman, 2006) and bullying involvement (Kawabata et al., 2012; Rajendran et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2020). The current study aims to further understand the relationships between bullying *and* depression in ADHD and the potential protective factor, positive parenting.

Proposed Study

The current proposed study has three aims to contribute to the current gaps and growing literature on bullying and depression in youth with ADHD. The first aim of this study (Aim 1 -Confirmatory) is to simply establish the external validity of the 2018-2019 combined National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) administrations. The NSCH is an annual population-based, cross-sectional survey of youth between the ages of 0-17 living in households across the United States. Aim 1 will compare 2018-2019 NSCH findings to the larger bullying and depression in ADHD literature and merely seeks to establish the external validity of the 2018-2019 combined NSCH. It is hypothesized that (1) children and adolescents with ADHD will have increased rates of bullying involvement, especially bullying victimization, compared to children and adolescents without ADHD; (2) adolescents with ADHD (aged 12-17 years) will have increased rates of depression compared to their non-ADHD peers; and (3) adolescents will have higher rates of bullying involvement and depression, independent of ADHD status, compared to children (aged 6-11 years).

The second aim of this study (Aim 2 - Innovative Topic 1) is novel. Aim 2 seeks to consider the association between the frequency of each role of bullying and depression severity. It is hypothesized that (1) in the total sample, there will be a positive association between bullying frequency and depression severity; (2) ADHD will moderate the association between bullying frequency and depression severity such that these associations will be stronger in the ADHD group.

The third and final aim of this study (Aim 3 – Innovative Topic 2) is also novel. Aim 3 seeks to examine whether positive parenting, operationalized in this study by effective problem solving, high levels of communication, parental self-efficacy, and low parenting stress, is associated with depression severity in youth with bullying involvement. It is hypothesized that (1) there will be a negative association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity; and (2) ADHD will moderate the association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity such that these associations will be stronger in the ADHD group. Family household income will be a covariate in Aim 3 analyses, as low SES has

been associated with negative parenting practices (Chen & Miller, 2013) and high levels of parental psychological distress (Conger et al., 1992; Roubinov & Boyce, 2017).

Method

Participants

Data was drawn from the 2018 - 2019 NSCH administrations. Respondents of both surveys were parents or caregivers who knew about the child's health and health care needs. The NSCH is an annual survey designed to produce national and state-level data on the physical and emotional health and well-being of American children. The NSCH is funded and directed by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources and Services Administration, Maternal and Child Health Bureau, and is administered by the U.S. Census Bureau. To meet the inclusion criteria of the current study: 1) selected children and adolescents had to be between the ages of 6-17 at the time of survey completion; 2) and the parent respondent had to have selected "No" to the following two items: "Has a doctor, other health care provider, or educator EVER told you that this child has: Intellectual Disability (formerly known as Mental Retardation)" and "Has a doctor, other health care provider, or educator EVER told you that this child has: Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)?"

Procedures

For the 2018 NSCH, a sample of 176,000 households across the 50 states and the District of Columbia were selected from the Census Master Address File. The 2019 NSCH, a sample of 180,000 households across the 50 states and the District of Columbia were selected from the Census Master Address File. In both years, the sample was stratified by state and a childpresence indicator that allowed the Census Bureau to oversample households that were more likely to have children. During data collection, a screener was first used to identify households with children. If children were present, the respondent (i.e., parent or caregiver) created a roster of children in the household. The roster included the age and other demographics of each child as well as a battery of questions designed to identify children with special health care needs. After completing this screener component of the survey, one child was randomly selected from all children in each household to be the subject of an age-specific topical survey. In total, 30,530 topical surveys were completed in 2018 and 29,433 in 2019. In spring of 2021, the NSCH released a 2018-2019 combined dataset to provide researchers better opportunities to conduct analyses using variables with small(er) sample sizes or low prevalence response options. For the current proposed study, we used the 2018-2019 combined data set. Surveys of children younger than 6 years of age were not included in any analyses as ADHD diagnoses in children younger than 6 have lower reliability (e.g., lesser-known cross-situational impairment, greater likelihood of source bias/minimal multi-informant data, developmental differences in young children) (O'Neil et al., 2014). After the initial criteria were met for the current study, 41,273 children and adolescents remained as participants in the study. However, once participants with missing data of variables examined were eliminated, n = 38,221 youth, reported on by their parents and caregivers, remained.

See Table 1 for demographic information.

Measures

All data points and variables were derived from parent/caregiver responses on the NSCH screener and subsequent NSCH topical survey.

NSCH Screener and Topical Survey

The pre-survey screener was used to retrieve the following participant demographic questions.

Child Demographics. The age of the child was used to stratify the surveys into two age groups: 6 to 11 years and 12 to 17 years, while the remaining items were used to describe the sample: 1) How old is this child?; 2) What is this child's sex?; 3) What is this child's race/ethnicity?

Parent Demographics. The topical survey was used to retrieve parent/caregiver demographic questions. Data from the following items was used to describe the sample: 1) What is your sex?; 2) What is your age?; 3) What is the highest grade or level of school you have completed?; 4) What is your marital status?; 5) What is the family structure that this child lives in?; 6) In general, how is your physical health?; 7) In general, how is your mental or emotional health?; and 8) "Think about your total combined family income in the last calendar year for all members of the family. What is that amount before taxes?" Household income level (federal poverty level, (FPL)) of the selected child was derived from parent response to the items about family income. Missing values for all of questions assessing household income level were imputed by NSCH study developers with data by the United States Census Bureau.

Bullying Involvement. Bullying involvement was captured by two questions: 1) "During the past 12 months, how often was this child bullied, picked on, or excluded by other children?"; and 2) "During the past 12 months, how often did this child bully others, pick on them, or exclude them?" For both bullying items, respondents were encouraged to report the highest frequency if frequency changed throughout the year. Responses for both bullying items were: (1) Never (in the past 12 months); (2) 1-2 times (in the past 12 months); (3) 1-2 times per month; (4) 1-2 times per week; (5) Almost every day.

To assess for youth who are bully-victims (those whose parents identified as both a victim *and* bully), we created a new variable in our dataset, "bully-victim". The literature on

what constitutes a "bully-victim" is limited and there does not appear to be frequency cut-offs. Similar to "bullying," which is usually just defined as a *repeated* aggressive behavior directed toward another of a lower status with intent to harm, a bully-victim is usually defined as someone who qualifies as both a bully and victim. Thus, in keeping with how the NSCH assessed "bully" or "victim" status, parents had to provide a response of at least a 2 (1-2 times in the past 12 months) in response to both the bully *and* victim NSCH topical survey items to be identified by us as a *bully-victim* within our dataset.

History of Depression. Youth's history of depression was measured by the following questions 1) "Has a doctor of other health care provider EVER told you that this child has: Depression?" Respondents answered with "*Yes*" or "*No*". If "*Yes*", parents were asked to report on a second question, "If yes, does this child CURRENTLY have the condition?", and if "*Yes*", whether their child's current depression severity is: *Mild, Moderate, or Severe.* (The NSCH later recoded these variables in the dataset to none, mild, moderate/severe.)

History of ADHD. Youth's history of ADHD was measured by the following question:1) "Has a doctor or other health care provider EVER told you that this child has Attention Deficit Disorder or Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, that is, ADD or ADHD?" Respondents answered with "*Yes*" or "*No*". (Similar to questions assessing youth's history of depression, parents who reported that a doctor or health care provider had "ever" indicated that their child had ADHD, were asked if their child "currently" has ADHD and the severity of ADHD. For the purpose of the current study, we are interested in lifetime ADHD.)

Positive Parenting. In the current study, an omnibus positive parenting variable was constructed by summing parent responses on the following four parenting constructs described

below ($\alpha = .86$). Scores on this composite ranged from 4 to 16, with lower scores indicating more positive parenting. See Table 2 for parenting factors used to create the positive parenting score.

Problem solving: One item in the 2018 and 2019 NSCH surveys ("When your family faces problems, how often are you likely to work together to solve your problems?") measured problem solving. Participants answered based on the following options: Responses to this item range from 1 to 4 (i.e., *all of the time; most of the time; some of the time; none of the time*) (CAHMI, 2021).

Communication: One item in the 2018 and 2019 NSCH surveys ("How well can you and this child share ideas of talk about things that really matter?") measured communication. Responses to this item ranged from 1 to 4 (i.e., *very well; somewhat well; not very well; not well at all*), according to the NSCH codebook (CAHMI, 2021).

Parenting self-efficacy: One item in the 2018 and 2019 NSCH surveys ("How well do you think you are handling the day-to-day demands of raising children?") measured parental self-efficacy. Responses to this item ranged from 1 to 4 (i.e., *very well; somewhat well; not very well; not well at all*), according to the NSCH codebook (CAHMI, 2021).

Parenting stress: One item in the 2018 and 2019 NSCH surveys ("During the past month, how often have you felt this child is much harder to care for than most children his/her age?") measured parenting stress. Responses to this item ranged from 1 to 5 (*never; rarely; sometimes; usually; always*), however, the NSCH codebook recommended the following response range (1 to 4) for analyses: *never; rarely; sometimes; usually/always* (CAHMI, 2021).

To calculate one positive parenting composite score for each participant, all four parenting items were averaged. These scores ranged from 1 to 4, with increments of .25, with lower scores indicating higher positive parenting. Participants with a perfect score of 1 were labeled as high positive parenting (HPP, n = 11,313), those with scores of 1.25 to 1.75 were labeled as moderately high positive parenting (MHPP, n = 20,180), scores of 2 to 2.75 were labeled as moderately low positive parenting (MLPP, n = 6,459), and scores ranging from 3 to 4 were labeled as low positive parenting (LPP, n = 305).

Covariates. The following variables in the NSCH data were used as covariates and account for in the analyses:

Race: Accepted parenting practices have shown to vary across races (Pinquart & Kauser, 2018; Spriggs et al., 2007). Additionally, ADHD diagnosis and treatment seeking (Coker et al., 2016; Morgan et al., 2013), bullying involvement (Goldweber et al., 2013; Spriggs et al., 2007), and rates of depression diagnoses (Richardson et al., 2003) in children and adolescents have all been found to vary across races.

Child sex and age: Child sex and age were accounted for in the current study given differences in the prevalence rates of depression in males versus females (i.e., depression being more prevalent in females than males; (McGuinness et al., 2012) and with rates of depression increasing among girls as they enter adolescence (Cyranowski et al., 2000). Sex differences are also notable within ADHD, particularly with symptom presentations and impairments looking different in boys versus girls (Arnett et al., 2015).

Statistical Analyses

All data were analyzed with Stata version 17.0. For all analyses in table format, see Table 3. To adjust for the complexity of a national sample design, all analyses in the current study were weighted and standard errors were adjusted per the guidelines of the NSCH (United States Census Bureau, 2020). **Aim 1: (Confirmatory).** The first aim of this study was to establish the external validity of the NSCH sample by comparing NSCH findings to the larger bullying: depression in ADHD data.

Hypothesis 1.1 (ADHD and Bullying Involvement): To assess the hypothesis that children and adolescents with ADHD will have increased rates of bullying involvement, especially bullying victimization, compared to youth without ADHD, chi-square test of independence was used to determine if there was a significant difference in bullying involvement between the ADHD and non-ADHD groups.

Hypothesis 1.2 (ADHD and Depression): Given the high comorbidity between ADHD and depression, the difference in prevalence rates of adolescent depression in youth with ADHD and without ADHD, and the functional impairments youth with ADHD experience, it was hypothesized that adolescents with ADHD (aged 12-17 years) would have higher rates of depression compared to their non-ADHD adolescent peers. To determine if there was a significant difference in rates of adolescent depression between the ADHD and non-ADHD groups, a chi-square test of independence was used.

Hypothesis 1.3 (Adolescent and Child Associations of Bullying Involvement and Depression): Previous research has shown that prevalence rates of depressive symptoms increase in adolescence (Costello et al., 2006; Cuijpers & Smit, 2004; Fergusson et al., 2005). In a large meta-analysis (Costello et al., 2006), prevalence rates of depression were 2.8% for children under the age of 13 and 5.7% for teenagers between the ages of 13 and 18. Similarly, bullying involvement has also shown to begin in school-aged children, peaking in early adolescence, and beginning to decline in high school (Espelage & Swearer, 2003; Vaillancourt et al., 2010). Therefore, it was hypothesized that in the current sample, adolescents (aged 12-17 years) will

have significantly higher rates of both bullying involvement (each role) and depression, independent of ADHD status, compared to children (aged 6-11 years). Chi-square tests of independence were used to determine if there was a significant difference between depression and bullying involvement the adolescent and child groups.

Aim 2 (Innovative Topic #1): The second aim of this study was to consider the association between bullying frequency (bully and victim only) and depression severity in the total sample and in the ADHD group.

Hypothesis 2.1 (Total Sample Bullying and Depression): To test the hypothesis that, in the total NSCH sample, there would be a positive association between bullying involvement frequency (bully and victim) and depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe), using an ordinal logistic regression was initially planned. However, despite a large overall sample size, numbers representing bullying involvement, bullying frequency, and depression were low in the context of the larger sample size. As such, multinomial logistic regression model was used as an effective and robust estimation method for dealing with small sample sizes. Bully-victim frequency could not be determined from the NSCH data, thus, I examined whether youth identified as both a bully and a victim (i.e., bully-victims) were reported to have ADHD (yes/no) and whether being a bully-victim with or without ADHD was associated depression severity.

After multinomial logistic regression models were used to find main effects, Adjusted Wald tests, a statistical test used to account for small sample sizes (Ozenne, Fisher, & Budtz-Jørgensen, 2020), were run to assess the significance of groups of coefficients between predictor variables (bullying frequency involvement across bullying roles) and the outcome variable (depression severity). *Hypothesis 2.2 (Bullying Frequency and Depression Severity in ADHD):* Given associations found in past research between bullying frequency and depression severity in youth with ADHD (Becker et al., 2017; Kowalski & Fedina, 2011), we hypothesized that ADHD would moderate the association between bullying frequency and depression severity such that these associations would be stronger in the ADHD group than the non-ADHD group. This analysis was a continuation of Aim 2, hypothesis 1. To that point, we used a multinomial logistic regression to determine whether having ADHD (yes/no; interaction variable) affects the strength of the frequency of bullying involvement and depression severity relationship. As in Aim 2, hypothesis 1, bully-victim frequency could not be determined from the pre-collected data, thus, bully-victim was examined as a dichotomous (yes/no) variable, rather than as a frequency variable. Adjusted Wald tests were run to assess the significance of coefficients between various predictor variables (bullying frequency involvement and ADHD across bullying roles) and the outcome variable (depression severity).

Aim 3 (Innovative Topic #2): The third aim of this study was to examine whether bullying involvement and positive parenting, operationalized by effective problem solving (McCoy et al., 2008), high levels of communication (Gulliford et al., 2015), low levels of parental stress (Putnick et al., 2008), and high levels of self-efficacy (Heath et al., 2015; Primack et al., 2012), is associated with depression severity. (See Table 2 for parenting factors used to create the positive parenting score.) For these analyses, positive parenting scores were constructed by first summing parent responses on four parenting constructs (problem solving, communication, parenting self-efficacy, and parenting stress; $\alpha = .86$). Scores on this composite ranged from 4 to 16, with lower scores indicating more reported positive parenting. Scores for positive parenting were then averaged and grouped into one of four categories, high positive parenting (HPP), moderately high positive parenting (MHPP), moderately low positive parenting (MLPP), and low positive parenting (LPP).

Hypothesis 3.1 (Positive Parenting and Depression Severity, Total Sample): Past research suggests that positive parenting is a protective factor for youth with depression (Meinzer et al., 2015). Initially I hypothesized that there would be a negative association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity (outcome variable) such that positive parenting would have a stronger protective effect for youth involved in bullying than for youth who were not involved in bullying. Upon learning more about the data and analytic techniques, my mentors and I came to realize that testing whether positive parenting has a stronger protective effect for youth involved in bullying was not testable. Instead, I tested whether positive parenting had a protective effect on youth involved with bullying. Subsequent references to Aim 3, Hypothesis 1 will reflect this change.

To assess for Aim 3, hypothesis 1, we used a multinomial logistic regression to determine whether positive parenting affects youth's depression severity. Adjusted Wald tests were run to assess the significance of coefficients between various predictor variables (bullying frequency involvement and positive parenting across bullying roles) and the outcome variable (depression severity).

Hypothesis 3.2 (Positive Parenting and Depression Severity in ADHD): Given substantial evidence that positive parenting can buffer negative consequences associated with ADHD (Dvorsky & Langberg, 2016; Modesto-Lowe et al., 2008), I initially hypothesized that positive parenting would have a stronger protective effect (i.e., no depression or low depression severity) for youth with ADHD involved in bullying than for youth without ADHD involved in bullying. Similar to Aim 3, Hypothesis 1, I realized that this hypothesis was not testable. Upon consulting

with my mentors, it was decided that I would test if positive parenting was protective or youth with ADHD involved in bullying. Subsequent references to Aim 3, Hypothesis 2 will reflect this change.

For these analyses, due to low numbers of youth with ADHD, depression, *and* bullying involvement in the context of the larger sample size (see Table 10), the outcome variable depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe) was changed to examined whether youth had diagnoses of depression (i.e., yes or no). As a result of dichotomizing depression, logistic regression was used instead of multinomial regression to determine whether having bullying involvement and *lower* positive parenting predicts depression in youth with ADHD. As with the other hypotheses in Aims 2 and 3, adjusted Wald tests were run to assess the significance of coefficients between various predictor variables (bullying involvement and positive parenting across bullying roles) and the outcome variable (depression).

Results

Population Descriptive Data and Frequencies

Descriptive statistics are presented in Table 1. Frequencies and cell count of all study variables for Aims 1, 2, and 3 can be found in the Appendix and in Tables 4-6 and A1-A4. Results of Aims 1, 2, and 3 can be found in Tables 4-10.

Population Descriptive Data

Table 1 presents a description of the population of the sample. All data on youth were provided by a parent or a caregiver. Half of the sample was female (50.3%) and 67.6% of the sample of youth were identified as White. The sample of youth was divided into child and adolescent groups for some analyses. The mean age of child group (ages 6-11) was 8.6 years, and the mean age of the adolescent group (ages 12-17) was 14.7 years. Regarding bullying

involvement for the whole sample, 51.4% were reported to not be involved in bullying at all, while nearly 2% were identified as bully perpetrators, 30% were identified as being victims, and 17.6% were reported to be bully-victims. 9.8% of youth were reported by their parents to have ADHD. Nearly 96% of youth were reported to not have current depression, 1.9% were reported to have mild depression, 1.8% having moderate depression, and 0.3% having severe depression. Due to low percentages of moderate and severe depression, these groups were combined for analyses. Of parents and caregiver reporters, 69.2% were woman and most parents (43.6%) were between the ages of 40-49 at the time they completed the survey. 23.6% of parents/caregivers who completed the survey had a Bachelor's degree, while 14.4% had a Master's degree, 13.3% had completed some college, and 15.8% completed high school or obtained their GED. 72% of the sample of parents identified as married. 40% and 25% identified their physical health as "very good" and "excellent," respectively. 38.3% identified their mental health as "very good," while 37.7% described their mental health as "excellent." Nearly 32.3% of the sample identified themselves as 400% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL), while 28.7% reported being 200-399% above the FPL. As for family structure, the highest percentage of youth were reported to live with two biological or adoptive parents at the time the survey was completed (58.8%). Next most common family structure was living with a single mother (18%) and living with two parents with at least one being biological (5.7%). Lastly, 29.6% of parents reported high positive parenting (HPP), 53% reported moderately high positive parenting (MHPP), 17% reported moderately low positive parenting (MLPP), and .8% reported low positive parenting (LPP).

Results of Study Aims and Hypotheses

Aim 1

Hypothesis 1.1 (ADHD and Bullying Involvement). A chi-square test of independence examined roles of bullying involvement in non-ADHD and ADHD groups. The relationship between these variables was significant, $\chi^2(3) = 866.68$, p < .001. Among youth without ADHD, 53.51% were identified to not be involved in bullying, whereas 1.89%, 28.4%, and 16.21% were identified as bully perpetrators, victims, and bully-victims, respectively. Among youth with ADHD, 31.5% were not involved in bullying, while 3.74%, 34.25% and 30.41% were identified as bully perpetrators, victims, and bully-victims, respectively. See Table 4.

These results supported Hypothesis 1.1 and indicate that youth with ADHD have higher rates of all forms of bullying involvement than youth who do not have ADHD.

Hypothesis 1.2 (ADHD and Depression). A chi-square test of independence identified rates of ADHD and depression in adolescents (ages 12-17 years old). Results showed a significant association between depression and ADHD, $X^2(1) = 1009.35$, p = .000 with about 25% of adolescents with ADHD also having depression compared to 6.5% of adolescents without ADHD having depression. These results supported hypothesis 1.1 and indicate that adolescents with ADHD have increased rates of depression compared to their non-ADHD peers. See Table 5.

Hypothesis 1.3 (Depression and Bullying Behavior in Children and Adolescents).

Chi-square tests examined depression and bullying involvement in children and adolescents. First, a chi-square test identified a significant association between the child and adolescent groups and depression, $X^2(1) = 882.09 \ p = .00$. Results found that independent of ADHD, adolescents were about four times more likely to be diagnosed with depression than children (8.6% and 2%, respectively). This was consistent with our hypothesis that adolescents would have higher rates of depression than children. A chi square test also identified a significant association between bullying involvement in the child versus adolescent groups $X^2(3) = 1171.56$, p = .00. Specifically, adolescents had higher rates of bully perpetration (2.38%) than children (1.76%), while children had higher rates of being bullied (32.5%) and bully-victims (22.2%) than adolescents (25.48% and 13%, respectively). These results partially supported our hypothesis, as we hypothesized that adolescents would have increased rates of bullying engagement overall (Zwierzynska, Wolke, & Lereya, 2013). See Table 6.

Despite the elevations in childhood victimization and bully-victimization, findings from Aim 1 demonstrate a high degree of external validity, suggesting that the data from the NSCH and the results from the current study can be generalized to different populations.

Aim 2

Hypothesis 2.1 (Bully Involvement Frequency and Depression Severity)

Bully Perpetration Frequency. As seen in Table 7, multinomial logistic regression analyses indicated significant positive associations between bully perpetration frequency and depression severity, after controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Specifically, relative to youth who do not bully others, youth who infrequently bullied others were 2.3 times more likely to have mild depression (b = .83, [95% CI: .56, 1.11], p < .001) than no depression and 2.79 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.03, [95% CI: .72, 1.34], p < .001). Likewise, relative to youth not engaged in bully perpetration, youth who frequently bullied others were 14.64 times more likely to be mildly depressed than to not be depressed (b = 2.68, [95% CI: 1.72, 3.65], p < .001) and 12.59 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than to have no depression (b = 2.53, [95% CI: 1.86, 3.21], p <.001). Adjusted Wald tests also indicated that higher frequency of bullying others increased the likelihood of youth experiencing both mild (p < .001) and moderate-to-severe depression (p <
.001). Positive associations between bully perpetration frequency and depression severity were consistent with our hypothesis.

Victim Frequency. Multinomial logistic regression analyses indicated significant positive associations between victim frequency and depression severity, controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Specifically, relative to youth who were not bullied by others, infrequent victims were 4.60 times more likely to have mild depression (b = 1.53, 95% CI: [1.19, 1.87], p < .001) than no depression and 4.21 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.44, 95% CI: [1.06, 1.82], p < .001). Likewise, relative to non- victim, frequent victims were 15.47 times more likely to be mildly depressed than not depressed (b = 2.74, 95% CI: [2.31, 3.17], p < .001) and 25.88 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than to have no depression (b = 3.25, 95% CI: [2.82, 3.69], p < .001). Adjusted Wald tests also indicated that higher frequency of being bullied increased the likelihood of youth experiencing both mild (p < .001) and moderate-to-severe depression (p < .001). Positive associations between the frequency of being bullied and depression severity were consistent with our hypothesis.

Bully-Victims (yes/no). Multinomial logistic regression analyses indicated significant positive associations between being a bully-victim and depression severity, controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Specifically, relative to non-bully-victim, youth who were identified as bully-victims were 4.99 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.01, 95% CI: [1.57, 2.44], p < .001) and 7.45 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 2.17, 95% CI: 1.77, 2.58], p < .001). Positive associations between being a bully-victim and depression severity were consistent with our hypothesis.

Hypothesis 2.2 (Bully Involvement Frequency and ADHD)

Bully perpetrators (frequency) and ADHD (yes/no) Groups. As shown in Table 8, multinomial logistic regression analyses indicated significant associations between bully perpetration frequency, ADHD, and depression severity, after controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Non-bully perpetrating youth with ADHD were less likely to have both mild depression than no depression (b = 0.70, 95% CI: .32, 1.07], p < .001) and moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 0.80, 95% [CI: .41, 1.18], p < .001), relative to the reference group. Compared to youth who did not bully others and did not have ADHD, youth who infrequently bullied others and did not have ADHD were 26.16 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 3.26, 95% [CI: 2.14, 4.39], p < .001) and 15.18 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than to have no depression (b = 2.72, 95% CI: [1.71, 3.73], p <.001). Youth who infrequently bullied others and had ADHD were 6.68 times more likely to have mild depression (b = 1.90, 95% [CI: 1.58, 2.22], p < .001) and 8.30 times more likely moderate-to-severe depression (b = 2.12, 95% [CI: 1.75, 2.48], p < .001) compared to non-bully perpetrating youth without ADHD. Among youth who frequently bullied others, those without ADHD were 11.98 times more likely to have mild depression (b = 2.48, 95% [CI: 2.02, 2.88], p < .001) and 18.81 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression (b = 2.93, 95% [CI: 2.51, 3.36], p < .001) than youth who do not bully others and do not have ADHD. Youth who frequently bullied and had ADHD were 9.38 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.24, 95% [CI: 1.52, 2.98], p < .001) and 25.92 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 3.26, 95% [CI: 2.42, 4.09], p < .001) than non-bully perpetrators without ADHD.

Post hoc adjusted Wald tests indicated a significant difference between infrequently bully perpetrating youth with and without ADHD and mild depression, (p = .02), with non-ADHD youth having a greater likelihood of mild depression than youth with ADHD.

These findings were both consistent and inconsistent with our hypothesis. Consistent with our hypothesis, youth with ADHD and high bully perpetration frequency were more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression relative to the reference group compared to bully perpetrating youth without ADHD. It was not consistent with our hypothesis that youth with infrequent bully perpetration and no ADHD would be at greater risk for mild depression than youth with infrequent bully perpetration with ADHD.

Victim (frequency) and ADHD (yes/no) Groups. Table 8 displays multinomial logistic regression analyses that found significant positive associations between victim frequency, ADHD, and depression severity, controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Compared to non-victim youth without ADHD, non-victim youth with ADHD were 3.78 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.33, 95% CI: .90, 1.76], p < .001) and 4.30 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.46, 95% [CI: 1.02, 1.90], p < .001). Youth who were infrequent victims without ADHD were 13.85 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.63, 95% [CI: 2.05, 3.20], p < .001) and 29.17 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than to have no depression (b = 3.37, 95% CI: [2.82, 3.91], p < .001) compared to non-victims without ADHD. Youth who were infrequent victims more likely to have mild depression (b = 1.44, 95% [CI: .93, 2.05], p < .001) and 11.85 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.49, 95% [CI: .93, 2.05], p < .001) and 11.85 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.49, 95% [CI: .93, 2.05], p < .001) and 11.85 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 2.46, 95% [CI: 1.78, 3.16], p < .001) compared to non-victims without ADHD. Frequent victims without ADHD were 19.97 times more likely to have

mild depression (b = 2.99, 95% [CI: 2.57, 3.42], p < .001) and 27.96 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression (b = 3.33, 95% [CI: 2.85, 3.81], p < .001) than non-victims without ADHD. Frequent victims without ADHD were 9.64 times more likely to have mild depression (b = 3.55, 95% [CI: 3.00, 4.09], p < .001) and 87.59 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression (b = 3.64, 95% [CI: 3.92, 5.02], p < .001) compared to nonvictims without ADHD (see Table 12).

Post hoc Adjusted Wald tests indicated a significant difference between infrequent victims with and without ADHD and mild depression, (p = .001), ADHD as potentially protective against depression. Similarly, among infrequent victims with and without ADHD and moderate-to-severe depression (p = .014), the significant p value again suggested that youth without ADHD were at increased risk of moderate-to-severe depression compared to youth with ADHD. A significant difference between frequent victims with and without ADHD with mild depression (p = .03) suggested that among more frequent victims, having ADHD increased the risk of also having mild depression. Lastly, consistent with the last group, a significant difference between frequent victims with and moderate-to-severe depression, (p < .001) suggested that among frequent victims, having ADHD increased the risk of having mild depression. Lastly, and moderate-to-severe depression, (p < .001) suggested that among frequent victims, having ADHD increased the risk of having moderate-to-severe depression.

Results examining victim frequency, ADHD, and depression severity were both consistent and inconsistent with our hypothesis. Consistent with our hypothesis, frequent victims with ADHD had increased risk of having mild and moderate-to-severe depression compared to youth without ADHD. A result we did not anticipate was among infrequent victims, ADHD appeared to be potentially protective against mild depression. Results indicated that infrequent victims without ADHD were at higher risk of mild and moderate-to-severe depression compared to infrequent victims with ADHD.

Bully-Victims (yes/no) and ADHD (yes/no) Groups. As reflected in Table 8, a multinomial logistic regression analysis indicated significant positive associations between being a bully-victim with and without ADHD and depression severity, controlling for youths' age, race, and sex. Relative to non-bully-victims without ADHD, youth who were identified as bully-victims with ADHD were 24.73 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 3.21, 95% CI: [2.72, 3.69], p < .001) and 48.28 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 3.88, 95% CI: 3.38, 4.38], p < .001). These findings were consistent with our hypothesis.

Aim 3

Hypothesis 3.1 (Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity).

Multinomial logistic regression analyses revealed some significant positive associations between bully involvement, positive parenting, and depression severity. In the following analyses, covariates included youths' age, race, and sex, and family SES. (See Table 9.)

Bully perpetration and Positive Parenting. Compared to non-bully perpetrating youth with HPP (reference group of the multinomial logistic regression), bully perpetrators with HPP were less likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 0.66, 95% CI: [.14, 1.18], p = .013), but 5.21 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 1.65, 95% [CI: .18, 2.11], p < .001). Non-bully perpetrator youth with MHPP were 5.81 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.76, 95% [CI: 1.28, 2.24], p < .001) and 28.32 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than to have no depression (b = 3.34, 95% CI: [2.89, 3.80], p < .001) relative to the reference group. Bully

perpetrators with MHPP were 13.45 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.60, 95% [CI: 1.67, 3.53], p < .001) and 82.85 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 4.42, 95% [CI: 3.69, 5.15], p < .001) compared to non-perpetrators with HPP. Youth identified as bully perpetrators with MLPP and mild depression were no different statistically than the reference group. Bully perpetrators with MLPP were 14.17 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely depressed than not depressed (b = 2.65, 95% [CI: .85, 4.54], p < .001) relative to the reference group. Youth with no bully perpetration and LPP were 6.76 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.91, 95% [CI: .76, 3.06], p < .001) and 12.06 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression (b = 2.49, 95% [CI: 1.59, 3.39], p < .001) than non-perpetrators with HPP. The group of bully perpetrators with LPP and mild depression were not statistically significant than the reference group, however bully perpetrators with LPP were 49.21 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 3.90, 95% [CI: 1.57, 6.22], p < .001), relative to non-bully perpetrators with HPP.

Post hoc adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences between several bully perpetration and positive parenting groups. First, the adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of non-bully perpetrating youth with MHPP with mild depression and bully perpetrating youth with MHPP with mild depression, Wald $\chi^2(1) = 3.82$, p = .05, suggesting that bullying perpetration increases the risk of mild depression for youth with MHPP. Adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of non-bully perpetrating youth with MLPP and mild depression and bully perpetrating youth with MLPP and mild depression and bully perpetrating youth with MLPP and mild depression and bully perpetrating youth with MLPP and mild depression. Among youth with mild depression increasing the risk for mild depression. Among youth with

moderate-to-severe depression, the adjusted Wald test revealed statistically significant differences in the log-odds non-bully perpetrating youth with MHPP and bully perpetrating youth with MHPP, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 10.97$, p = .001, as well as non-bully perpetrating youth with MLPP and bully perpetrating youth with MLPP. Wald $\chi 2(1) = 554.52$, p < .001, again suggesting the influence of bully perpetration as increasing the risk for moderate-to-severe depression.

Positive parenting was generally protective among bully perpetrating youth. As shown in Table 9, bully perpetrating youth with HPP had the lowest risk of mild depression (RRR = 1.93) followed by bully perpetrators with MHPP (RRR = 13.45), bully perpetrators with MLPP (RRR = 0.88), and bully perpetrators with LPP (RRR = 4.30). A similar trend was revealed among youth with moderate-to-severe depression, as youth with bully perpetration and HPP had the lowest risk of moderate-to-severe depression (RRR = 5.21) compared to bully perpetrators with MHPP (RRR = 4.65) and LPP (RRR = 3.90).

Findings were both consistent and inconsistent with our hypothesis. While there was an overall negative association between bully perpetration and depression severity, positive parenting was only somewhat protective against moderate-to-severe depression. Bully perpetrators with moderately high positive parenting had a higher risk of moderate-to-severe depression than youth with moderately low positive parenting, which was unexpected.

Victims and Positive Parenting. Victims with HPP and mild depression were not statistically different (p > .05) than the reference group (i.e., never bullied, HPP). Victims with HPP were 9.56 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 2.26, 95% [CI: 1.44, 3.07], p < .001) than non-victims with HPP. Among youth with MHPP, non-victims were 6.86 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.93, 95% [CI: 1.22, 2.63], p < .001) and 57.36 times more likely to be moderately-to-severely

depressed than to have no depression (b = 4.05, 95% CI: [3.27, 4.83], p < .001), relative to nonvictims with HPP. Victims with MHPP were 16.50 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.80, 95% [CI: 1.61, 4.02], p < .001) and 144.73 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 4.97, 95% [CI: 4.00, 5.95], p < .001) compared to non-victims with HPP. Among youth with MLPP, non-victims were 3.04 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.11, 95% [CI: .22, 2.00], p = .014) and 7.81 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 2.06, 95% [CI: 1.16, 2.95], p < .001) compared to non-victims with HPP. Youth identified as victims with MLPP were 4.76 times more likely to be mildly depressed than not depressed (b = 1.56, 95% [CI: .85, 2.27], p < .001) and 25.69 times more moderately-to-severely depression (b =3.25, 95% [CI: 2.44, 4.05], p < .001) relative to non-victims with HPP. Among youth with LPP, non-victims were 13.66 times as likely to experience mild depression than no depression (b =2.61, 95% [CI: 1.89, 3.34], p < .001) and 106.30 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression (b = 4.67, 95% [CI: 3.85, 5.48], p < .001) compared to non-victim s with HPP. Victims with LPP were 25.33 times as likely to have mild depression than no depression (b =3.23, 95% [CI: 1.76, 4.71], p < .001) and 360.41 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 5.89, 95% [CI: 4.57, 7.20], p < .001) relative to non-victims with HPP.

Adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences between three victim/non-victim and positive parenting groups. First, the adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of non-victims with MHPP with moderate-to-severe depression and victims with MHPP with moderate-to-severe depression, Wald $\chi^2(1) = 7.26$, p = .007. This finding suggests that among youth with MHPP, victims were at increased

risk for moderate-to-severe depression compared to non-victims with MHPP. Similarly, there was a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of non-victims youth with MLPP with moderate-to-severe depression and bully perpetrating youth with MLPP, Wald $\chi^2(1) = 16.58$, p < .001 and non-victims and moderate-to-severe depression with LPP and bully perpetrating youth with LPP, Wald $\chi^2(1) = 4.46$, p = .035, suggesting that being bullied significantly increased risk for moderate-to-severe depression among victims.

As was with bully perpetration, positive parenting was generally seen as protective among victims. Victims with HPP had the lowest risk of mild depression (RRR = 2.13) compared to victims with MHPP (RRR = 16.50), MLPP (RRR = 4.76), and LPP (RRR = 25.33). Youth with the lowest positive parenting scores had the highest risk of mild depression. Among youth with moderate-to-severe depression, victims with HPP had the lowest risk of moderate-tosevere depression (RRR = 9.56) compared to victims with MHPP (RRR = 144.73), MLPP (RRR = 25.69), and LPP (RRR = 360.41).

Findings were consistent with our hypothesis that there would be a negative association between victims x positive parenting and depression severity. Positive parenting was generally protective against depression among victim (and non-victims).

Bully-Victims and Positive Parenting. Bully-victim youth with HPP and mild depression were not significantly different (p > .05). than the reference group (i.e., non bully-victim with HPP). Bully-victim youth with HPP were 44.29 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 3.79, 95% CI: [2.92, 1=4.66], p < .001). Bully-victim youth with HPP and mild depression did not significantly differ from the reference group, (p > .05). Relative to non-bully-victims, non-bully-victims with MHPP were 10.07 times as likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.31, 95% CI: [.96, 3.66], p = .001) and 120.65 times

more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 4.79, 95% CI: [3.28, 6.31], p < .001). Bully-victims with MHPP were 5.18 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 1.64, 95% CI: [.82, 2.47], p < .001) and 41.74 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than youth not engaged in bully-victimization with HPP. Among youth with MLPP and compared to non-bully-victims with HPP, non-bully-victims were 15.04 times as likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.71, 95% CI: [1.87, 3.54], p < 1.5%.001) and about 152 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 5.02, 95% CI: [4.21, 5.83], p < .001). Bully-victims with MLPP were 10.21 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 2.32, 95% CI: [.63, 4.02], p =.007). There was not a significant difference between bully-victim youth with MLPP and mild depression relative to non-bully-victims with HPP, (p > .05). Relative to non-bully-victims with HPP, non-bully-victims with LPP were 7.94 times more likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 2.07, 95% CI: [1.02, 3.12], p < .001) and 40.58 times as likely to have moderateto-severe depression than no depression (b = 3.70, 95% CI: [3.70, .44], p < .001). Bully-victims with LPP were 24.92 times as likely to have mild depression than no depression (b = 3.22, 95%CI: [1.72, 4.71], p < .001) and 304.84 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression (b = 5.72, 95% CI: [4.71, 6.73], p < .001) relative to the non-bully-victim youth the HPP.

Adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences between some bullyvictim and positive parenting groups. First, adjusted Wald test revealed statistically significant differences in the log-odds of non-bully-victim youth with MLPP and mild depression and bullyvictim youth with MLPP and mild depression, Wald $\chi^2(1) = 15.18$, p < .001, as well as between non-bully-victim youth with MLPP and moderate-to-severe depression and bully-victim youth with MLPP, and moderate-to-severe depression Wald $\chi 2(1) = 11.66$, p = .001. A similar trend was found among non-bully-victim youth with LPP and bully-victim youth with LPP, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 24.05$, p < .001, suggesting that youth who are bully-victims have increased risk of mild and moderate-to-severe depression.

Positive parenting had a protective effect against both mild and moderate-to-severe depression for bully-victims, however this trend was less linear. Overall, the risk of mild depression generally increased with lower positive parenting. Bully-victim youth with HPP had the lowest risk of mild depression (RRR = 3.01) compared to bully-victim youth with MHPP (RRR = 5.18), MLPP (RRR = 23.27), and LPP (RRR = 24.92). Youth with the lowest positive parenting scores had the highest risk of mild depression. A less linear trend was revelated among bully-victim youth with moderate-to-severe depression. Bully-victim youth with MLPP had the lowest risk of moderate-to-severe depression (RRR = 10.21), followed by bully-victim youth with MHPP (RRR = 41.74), HPP (RRR = 44.29), and LPP (RRR = 304.84).

These findings were generally consistent with our hypothesis that there would be a negative association between bully-victim youth x positive parenting and depression severity. Positive parenting was generally protective against depression among bully-victim youth, however the trend was less linear for bully-victim youth with moderate-to-severe depression than bully-victim youth with mild depression.

Hypothesis 3.2 (Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, ADHD, and Depression Severity). Table 10 reflects binomial logistic regression analyses which revealed significant positive associations between being bully involvement, positive parenting, ADHD and depression severity. In the following analyses, covariates included youths' age, race, and sex, and family SES.

Bully perpetration, Positive Parenting, and ADHD. As shown in Table 10, insufficient variation in data and a low number of cases perfectly predicting the outcome variable (depression) resulted in Stata dropping all cases in Group 1 (i.e., bully perpetration, HPP, and no ADHD, n = 78) and Group 2 (i.e., bully perpetration, HPP, and ADHD, n = 8) from the analysis and therefore no predictions were made about depression for these groups. As for bully perpetrators with MHPP and no ADHD, there was not a significant difference compared to nonbully perpetrators with MHPP and no ADHD, (p > .05). However, bully perpetrators with MHPP and ADHD were 65.37 times as likely to be depressed than not depressed (b = 4.18, 95%CI: [2.25, 6.10], p < .001). Youth identified as bully perpetrators with MLPP and no ADHD were almost 10 times more likely to have depression than no depression (b = 2.28, 95% CI: [1.27, 3.29], p < .001) relative to the reference group. There was a similar finding for youth identified as bully perpetrators with MLPP and ADHD as they were 12.68 times more likely to have depression than not have depression (b = 2.54, 95% CI: [1.40, 3.67], p < .001). There was no association between bully perpetrating youth with LPP and no ADHD and the outcome variable of depression, bully perpetrating youth with LPP and ADHD were nearly 1,353 times more likely to have depression than not (b = 7.21, 95% CI: [5.11, 9.29], p < .001). Bully perpetrating youth with LPP and ADHD were substantially more likely to experience depression compared to bully perpetrators, with or without ADHD, with higher positive parenting.

Post hoc adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences between two bully perpetration, positive parenting groups, and ADHD groups. First, the adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of bully perpetrating youth with MHPP and no ADHD and bully perpetrating youth with MHPP and ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 13.55$, p < .001, suggesting that having ADHD significantly increased the risk of depression, despite youth having moderately high positive parenting. A similar trend was found among bully perpetrating youth with LPP and no ADHD and bully perpetrating youth with LPP and no ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 35.65$, p < .001, again providing evidence that having ADHD significantly increased the risk of depression.

Taken together, while it appeared moderately high positive parenting did not adequately protect bully perpetrating youth with ADHD from depression, it was difficult to discern whether positive parenting was generally protective against depression for bully perpetrating youth with and without ADHD, as no overall trend was found in the analysis. (See Table 10.)

Victim, Positive Parenting, and ADHD. Overall, all findings within this category of victims were significant and appeared to follow two main trends. First, victims with ADHD, across all positive parenting groups, were more likely to be depressed than victims without ADHD. Further, with higher positive parenting, victims experienced lower odds of having depression compared to their victim peers with less positive parenting. Specifically, victims with HPP and no ADHD were 3.35 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 1.21,95% CI: [.43, 1.99], p = .002), whereas victims with HPP and ADHD were 18.36 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 2.91, 95% CI: [1.68, 4.15], p < .001). Among youth with MHPP, victims without ADHD were seven times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 1.92, 95% CI: [1.24, 2.60], p < .001). Victims with MHPP and ADHD were nearly 29 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 3.36, 95% CI: [2.63, 95% CI:4.10], p < .001). Similarly, victims with MLPP and no ADHD were around 21 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed (b = 3.05, 95% CI: [2.33, 3.76], p < .001), while victims with MLPP and ADHD were 78.26 times more likely to be identified as having depression, (b = 4.36,95% CI: [3.61, 5.11], p < .001). Victims with LPP and no ADHD were about 30 times more

likely to have depression than no depression (b = 3.40, 95% CI: [2.22, 4.59], p < .001) while victims with LPP and ADHD were 219.20 times more likely to have depression than no depression, (b = 5.39, 95% CI: [4.05, 6.72], p < .001).

Post hoc adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences among bullied, positive parenting, and ADHD groups. First, the adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of victim youth with HPP and no ADHD compared to victim youth with HPP and ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 8.53$, p = .004, suggesting having ADHD increased depression despite high positive parenting. Similarly, a statistically significant difference was revealed between victim youth with MHPP and no ADHD and victim youth with MHPP and no ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 46.87$, p < .001, again suggesting having ADHD increased depression despite having moderately high positive parenting. There was a significant difference found between victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD and victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 30.00$, p < .001, suggesting that having ADHD increased depression despite some positive parenting (MLPP). As well as for victim youth with LPP and no ADHD and victim youth with LPP and no ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 6.33$, p = .012, suggesting that having ADHD increased depression.

Findings of this analysis also provide support for positive parenting as protective against depression for both ADHD and non-ADHD groups. Victim youth with ADHD and HPP had the lowest risk of depression (OR = 18.36), followed by MHPP (OR = 28.79), MLPP (OR = 78.26), and LPP (OR = 219.20). Similarly for victim youth without ADHD, victim youth with HPP had the lowest risk for depression (OR = 3.35), followed by victim youth with MHPP and no ADHD (OR = 6.82), victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD (OR = 21.11), and finally bulled youth with LPP and no ADHD (OR = 29.96).

These findings were generally consistent with our hypothesis as positive parenting appeared protective against depression for victim youth with ADHD (and youth without ADHD). However, when comparing victim youth with ADHD and victim youth without ADHD of similar positive parenting groups, the presence of having ADHD still increased the risk of depression despite having exposure to positive parenting.

Bully-Victim, Positive Parenting, and ADHD. Binomial logistic regressions indicated several significant associations between engagement in bully-victim behavior, positive parenting, ADHD and having depression. Bully-victim youth with HPP and no ADHD were 4.53 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 1.51, 95% CI: [.40, 2.62], p = .008), however there was not a significant association between bully-victim youth with HPP and ADHD and depression. Among youth with MHPP, bully-victim youth with no ADHD were almost 12 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 2.48, 95% CI: [1.47,3.49], p < .001). Bully-victim youth with MHPP and ADHD were 28.5 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed, (b = 3.35, 95% CI: [2.45, 4.26], p < .001). Similarly, bully-victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD were 20.29 times more likely to be depressed than not depressed (b = 3.01, 95% CI: [2.13, 3.90], p < .001), while bully-victim youth with MLPP and ADHD were almost 118 times more likely to be identified as having depression than no depression, (b = 4.77, 95% CI: [3.89, 5.64], p < .001). Bully-victim youth with LPP and no ADHD were about 43 times more likely to have depression than no depression (b = 3.76, 95%CI: [2.17, 5.35], p < .001) while bully-victim youth with LPP and ADHD were about 119 times more likely to have depression than no depression, (b = 4.78, 95% CI: [3.63, 5.94], p < .001).

Post hoc adjusted Wald tests revealed statistically significant differences between bullyvictim MHPP and MLPP positive parenting, and ADHD groups. Specifically, the adjusted Wald test revealed a statistically significant difference in the log-odds of bully-victim youth with MHPP and no ADHD and bully-victim youth with MHPP and ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 5.18$, p = .023. Additionally, a statistically significant difference was found between bully-victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD and victim youth with MLPP and ADHD, Wald $\chi 2(1) = 44.03$, p < .001. These findings provide support for ADHD moderating the associations between bully-victim involvement x positive parenting and depression for bully-victims with parents who engage in MHPP and MLPP, specifically that having ADHD increased risk of depression despite positive parenting.

Among bully-victim youth, positive parenting appeared nearly equally as protective against depression for ADHD and non-ADHD youth. Bully-victim youth with ADHD and HPP was not statistically significant, however bully-victim youth with ADHD and MHPP were 28.5 times as likely to have depression, compared to OR = 117.92 for bully-victims with ADHD and MLPP and OR = 119.10 for bully-victim youth with LPP and ADHD. Non-ADHD youth risk for depression followed a similar trend, with evidence that risk for depression increases with less positive parenting, see Table 14. These findings were generally consistent with our hypothesis as positive parenting appeared protective against depression for youth with ADHD (and youth without ADHD). However, among bully-victim youth in similar positive parenting groups, having ADHD still increased the risk of depression compared to youth without ADHD.

Discussion

The current study aimed to contribute to the existing gaps and current literature on bullying and depression in youth with ADHD and examine positive parenting as a potential buffer to the negative effects youth encounter, particularly youth with bullying involvement and ADHD. This study was novel given: 1) the association between the frequency of bullying involvement and depression severity for youth with and without ADHD was examined, 2) the association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression/depression severity was investigated to better understand ADHD and depression comorbidity and contribute to the growing literature in this area, and 3) ADHD was considered as a moderator in bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression to help inform interventions for youth with ADHD. It is important to note several key methodological points about the current study to best interpret findings. First, all data included in this study were parent/caregiver report. Parents reported on their perceived knowledge of their children's engagement in bullying, which may or may not have been an accurate reflection of youth's true experiences (Shakoor et al., 2011). Additionally, parents' positive parenting scores and subsequent positive parenting grouping for analyses were configured based on parents' perception of their own parenting behaviors, potentially skewing results (Korelitz & Garber, 2016). Further, parents were asked in a survey format if they had been told by a health care professional that their child had depression or ADHD, among other conditions. It is unknown if youth met specific criteria in the *Diagnostic* and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – 5th Edition (DSM-5; APA, 2013) required to be diagnosed with either of these conditions, therefore findings as they relate to ADHD and depression should be interpreted with caution. Lastly, frequency tables and descriptions of study aims' hypotheses were included to highlight low cell sizes and context for large RRRs and ORs in the analyses. It is likely that some of the results presented in this study were inflated due to an overall large sample size and low numbers of parent reported depression and bullying involvement, particularly when analyzed together (e.g., Aim 3, bully involvement x ADHD x positive parenting and depression severity). With these methodological limitations in mind, the results will be further discussed.

Aims and Hypotheses

Aim 1

Hypothesis 1.1 (ADHD and Bullying Involvement). The hypothesis that youth with ADHD would have increased rates of bullying involvement, especially victimization, compared to you who do not have ADHD was assessed to determine external validity and was largely supported. It was hypothesized that victimization would have the highest discrepancy between youth with and without ADHD, as youth with ADHD have a higher likelihood to experience social challenges given impulsivity and poor emotion regulation (Diamantopoulou, Henricsson, & Rydell, 2005) increasing their vulnerability of victimization (Murray-Close et al., 2010). However, this study found the role of bully-victim, had the largest discrepancy between youth with and without ADHD. While 16.21% of youth without ADHD were identified as bullyvictims by parents, 30.41% of youth with ADHD were identified as bully-victims. This finding supports the growing need for the bullying/ADHD literature to examine bully-victims. Research has consistently determined that youth engaged in both bullying and victimization of others ("bully-victims") have the poorest outcomes and are at the greatest risk for depression and depressive symptoms (Copeland et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2016). The ADHD research has also supported that youth with ADHD may be more inclined to respond reactively and aggressively if bullied (Taylor, Saylor, Twyman, & Macias, 2010), potentially contributing to parents identifying their child as a bully perpetrator rather than a victim. This finding emphasizes the importance of bullying/ADHD research focusing on bully-victims as youth whose potentially ADHD-driven social and functional impairments leave them vulnerable to poor outcomes.

Hypothesis 1.2 (ADHD and Depression). The hypothesis that adolescents with ADHD would have increased rates of depression compared to their non-ADHD adolescent peers was examined to assess for external validity. In the current study, youth with ADHD were nearly 6 times more likely to have depression than youth without ADHD. Findings supported the hypothesis and were consistent with previous studies (Angold, Costello, & Erklani, 1999; Biederman et al., 2008; Chronis-Tuscano et al., 2010; Meinzer et al., 2013). It is well documented that adolescents with ADHD have increased rates of depression. Meinzer's depression theory suggests that ADHD and depression have similar etiological variables that contribute to both disorders (e.g., complex interactions between contextual, genetic, biological, cognitive, and interpersonal variables) and because depression symptoms are often secondary to the associated functional impairments commonly reported in ADHD (see Meinzer et al., 2013). Our findings add to the current literature on ADHD and depression comorbidity in adolescents.

Hypothesis 1.3 (Depression and Bullying Behavior in Children and Adolescents). Assessing for external validity, we hypothesized that adolescents would have higher rates of depression, independent of ADHD status, compared to children. Study results supported this hypothesis as adolescents were over four times more likely to be depressed than children. This finding is consistent with previous research (Costello et al., 2006; Cuijpers & Smit, 2004; Fergusson et al., 2005). Youth tend to develop depressive symptoms during the transition from childhood to adolescence given puberty, increased social roles and adult responsibilities, and increased academic and interpersonal stressors (Malhotra & Sahoo, 2018).

Adolescents were also hypothesized to have higher rates of bullying involvement than children. However, findings from the current study were mixed. Parents identified slightly higher percentages of bully perpetration in adolescents (2.4%) than children (1.8%), though higher rates of victimization in children (32.5%) than adolescents (25.5%), and higher rates of bullyvictimization in children (22.2%) than adolescents (13%). While percentages between children and adolescents were not drastically different, the results were not expected. One possibility to explain this finding is that NSCH bullying items only assessed bullying involvement over the past year. It is possible that parents have received more feedback about their children's bullying involvement from teachers and other children's parents over the past year compared to adolescents, who tend to engage in less obvious bullying tactics (Nishina, Juvoven, & Witkow 2005) and therefore, parents may be able to easily recount their younger children's bullying involvement. To this point, parents may have less knowledge of their children's social interactions and social behavior as they enter adolescence (Larrañga, Yubero, & Navarro, 2018). Bullying involvement presents differently across age and development, which may not be captured adequately by the NSCH survey. For example, relational or indirect bullying tends to be less obvious and can include spreading rumors, gossiping, and social manipulation and exclusion (Craig et al. 2009; Miller & Vaillancourt 2007; Olweus, 1993). Physical (direct) bullying is more common in younger children (Bjorkqvist, Osterman, & Kaukiainen 1991) and relational (indirect) bullying is more prevalent in older children and adolescents due to gains in social awareness and normative expectations (Nishina, Juvoven, & Witkow 2005). Therefore, it is possible that parents who responded in the current study may have been less aware of their adolescents' involvement in bullying, compared to younger children, resulting in lower reported frequencies for victimization and bully-victimization.

Aim 2

All analyses in Aim 2 controlled for child age, child sex, and child race.

Hypothesis 2.1 (Bully Involvement Frequency and Depression Severity). The purpose of Aim 2 was to consider the association between the frequency of each bullying role and depression severity. This aim was novel because no other cross-sectional study has ever examined the association between frequency of bullying involvement on levels of depression severity. It was hypothesized that the associations of frequency of each bullying role and depression severity would be positive (i.e., higher frequency of bullying engagement, increased likelihood for heightened depressed severity).

Bully Perpetration. Associations between bully perpetration frequency and depression severity were largely consistent with the hypothesis. Analyses found that infrequent bully perpetrators (i.e., youth who bullied others 1-2 times a year or 1-2 times a month) were significantly more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression compared to the reference group. Similarly, frequent bully perpetrators (i.e., youth who bullied 1-2x a week or almost every day) were found to be significantly more likely to have mild depression and moderate depression than non-bully perpetrating youth. These findings are consistent with previous studies that have examined bullying perpetration and depression in youth (Kumpulainen, Räsänen, & Puura, 2001; Kaltiala-Heino & Fröjd, 2011; Vaughn et al., 2010). Results also suggested that with increased frequency of bully perpetration, youth were more likely to have mild and moderate-to-severe depression compared to less frequent bully perpetrators.

A more unique finding was that infrequently bullying others did not significantly increase the risk of mild depression and while significant, minimally increased risk of moderate-to-severe depression. Youth who infrequently bullied others were significantly less likely to be mildly depressed than not depressed relative to the reference group. One possible explanation for this curious finding might be that bully perpetration must occur more consistently to be associated with depression. In the current study, "infrequent perpetrators" captured youth whose parents reported their child to bully at a frequency of once a year to once a month in the past year (e.g., 1 to 12 occurrences).

Another explanation for this finding is that bullying others may be protective against mild depression. Low self-esteem is a construct that has often been considered to be independently associated with depression and bully perpetration in youth (Choi & Park, 2018; Fiorilli, Capitello, Barni, Buonomo, & Gentile, 2019). Some research has shown that those who bully others have lower self-esteem, increasing their risk for depression (Donnellan et al., 2005; Reijntjes et al., 2011). However, research on low self-esteem and bullying perpetration is mixed. Some studies have found associations with increased self-esteem among bully perpetrators (Choi & Park, 2018; Kaukiainen, Salmivalli, Lagerspetz et al, 2002; Seals & Young, 2003), while other studies have reported no relation between self-esteem and bullying (Luk et al., 2016). It is possible that some bully perpetrating youth in the current study had less risk of mild depression given their infrequent bullying perpetration.

Lastly, a third explanation for this unexpected result could be parents lack of awareness of their child's mild depression (Johnco & Rapee, 2018). Youth with mild depression may exhibit fewer obvious depressive symptoms than youth with more severe or impairing depressive symptoms, and therefore mild depressive symptoms might go overlooked by parents (Pavuluri & Birmahar, 2004). It is likely that parents would have greater awareness of more severe and impairing depressive symptoms, potentially explaining why infrequent bully perpetrators were found to have increased risk for moderate-to-severe depression than non-perpetrating youth and less risk for experiencing mild depression relative to non-bullies. *Bullied.* Frequency of being bullied and increased depression severity were positively associated and consistent with our hypothesis. Findings highlighted that victim youth have increased risk of having both mild depression and moderate-to-severe depression than non-victim youth. Additionally, findings supported that youth bullied at a higher frequency (i.e., weekly or daily) have a significantly increased risk of depression compared to youth bullied less frequently.

Being bullied has shown to have both direct and indirect associations with depression. Longitudinal studies have reported on direct associations and dose-response relationships, showing that bully victimization can lead to heightened depression (Moore et al., 2014; Woke, Copeland, Angold, & Costello, 2019) and higher chronicity of bullying over time leads to more adverse outcomes (Schreier, Wolke et al., 2009). The current study was cross-sectional and thus while temporal sequencing of bully victimization and depression in youth is unknown, capturing the frequency of being bullied over a year may speak to a dose-response relationship.

Bully-Victim (yes/no). Youth who both bullied others and experienced bully victimization over the past year were more likely to have mild and moderate-to-severe depression than no depression relative to non-bully-victims. The findings supported our hypothesis. Past research has consistently found that youth engaged in both bullying and victimization of others have the poorest outcomes and are at the greatest risk for depression and depressive symptoms (Copeland et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2016).

Hypothesis 2.2 (Bully Involvement Frequency, ADHD, and Depression Severity). The aim of Aim 2, Hypothesis 2 was to investigate if ADHD would moderate the association between bullying frequency and depression severity such that these associations would be stronger in the ADHD group. *Bully Perpetration and ADHD.* Results for bully perpetration and ADHD were mixed. Among infrequent bully perpetrators, the presence of ADHD appeared protective against mild depression. Results indicated that infrequent bully perpetrators without ADHD had lower risk of mild depression than those with ADHD. A subsequent adjusted Wald test between those groups revealed the significant effect of ADHD on the relative risk of depression.

Consistent with our hypothesis, among youth with high bully perpetration frequency, youth with ADHD were 25.9 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression relative to the reference group. Youth without ADHD were only 18.8 times as likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than no depression relative to the reference group.

Other findings within the bully perpetration and ADHD analyses were less consistent with our hypothesis. Among youth with mild depression, ADHD appeared to be protective across all bully perpetration frequencies. Among youth with moderate-to-severe depression, ADHD appeared to be protective against depression except for high frequency bully perpetrators.

A possible explanation to understand the unexpected findings is that having ADHD might be protective against depression for youth engaged in bully perpetration. Given the novelty of assessing ADHD as a moderator between bully perpetration frequency and depression severity, there are no other studies of which to compare the current findings; however, it may be plausible that youth with ADHD have received behavioral or psychopharmacological treatments which may buffer the experience of having depression. As reported previously, ADHD and depression often occur comorbidly and thus can have similar symptoms (Meinzer et al., 2014). Research on the psychopharmacological treatment of comorbid ADHD and depression have found that there are antidepressants effective in treating symptoms of both disorders (Pliszka, 1998; Turgay & Ansari, 2006). There has also been evidence to support that ADHD medication is associated with reduced rates of concurrent depression in youth (Chang, D'Onofrio, Quinn, Lichtenstein, & Larsson, 2016). Non-psychopharmacological treatments such as cognitive behavioral therapy have also been shown to be effective in treating youth depression and ADHD, though there is mixed evidence to support its effectiveness treating ADHD without the addition of medication (Boyer, Geurts, Prins, & Van der Oord, 2015; Shrestha, Lautenschleger, & Soares, 2020; Spirch, Safren, Finkelstein, Remmert, & Hammerness, 2016).

A second explanation why bully perpetrating youth with ADHD appeared less depressed than non-bully perpetrators without ADHD could be due to a single informant approach. While the use of multiple informants has been recommended in child and adolescent assessment of mental health symptoms, children and their parents have been found to have conflicting perspectives on the severity of youth depressive symptoms, with correlations in the low to moderate range (.20-.30) (De Los Reys & Kazdin, 2005; Humphreys et al., 2007). Prior research has found that parents tend to underreport internalizing symptoms and youth tend to report higher levels of depressive symptoms than their parents (Pavuluri & Birmahar, 2004). Thus, it is possible that parent-only reporting of their children's symptoms of depression may not capture the true extent of depression severity in bully perpetrating youth.

Bullied and ADHD. Frequency of being bullied was positively associated with mild and moderate-to-severe depression severity for youth with ADHD. Youth with more frequent bullying and ADHD had an increased risk of mild depression and moderate-to-severe depression relative to the reference group. Among victim youth without ADHD, the increased frequency of being bullied had a limited effect on depression severity.

ADHD moderated the associations between frequent victim youth with and without ADHD and mild depression (p = .03), as well as frequent victim youth with and without ADHD

and moderate-to-severe depression (p = .01), suggesting that frequent victim youth with ADHD are especially vulnerable to depression. While ADHD also moderated the associations between infrequent victim with mild depression and infrequent victim youth with moderate-to-severe depressive, ADHD appeared to be protective against depression, as youth with ADHD were less likely to have depression than their non-depressed peers. One explanation to explain this finding is that victim youth with ADHD might have received treatments and additional supportive resources that victim youth without ADHD have not been afforded, buffering the onset or presence of depressive symptoms.

Youth with ADHD had slightly lower odds of having moderate-to-severe depression relative to the reference group compared to frequent victim youth without ADHD. This finding was similar to the trend revealed within infrequent bully perpetration among youth with ADHD. As with bully perpetrators, an explanation for this trend might be reliability of parent report versus youth report of bullying involvement and depressive symptoms. Bullying primarily occurs within a peer group and often when there is not an adult present, therefore parents often have limited knowledge of bullying behavior until it becomes chronic or begins to interfere with their functioning (Vaillancourt, Brittain, et al., 2010). A similar explanation can be given for depressive symptoms, as parents may not be aware of the extent of their child's depressive symptoms and may mistake symptoms of depression for other common child/adolescent behaviors.

Study cell sizes and the numbers of youth identified as infrequent victim with ADHD and experiencing mild or moderate depression should also be considered. As shown in Table 8, while the reference group for these analyses (i.e., youth never bullied and no ADHD) contained N = 18,180 youth, only n = 91 and n = 134 youth were identified as infrequent victims without

ADHD who had mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Similarly, only n = 63 youth were identified by parents as infrequent victims with ADHD with mild depression, and n = 73 youth as infrequent victims without with ADHD. These cell counts were among the lowest in this analysis, potentially skewing the findings.

Bully-Victim (yes/no). As expected, bully-victims with ADHD were at increased risk of having both mild and moderate-to-severe depression relative to non-bully-victim youth with no ADHD. Specifically, bully-victims with ADHD were around 24.7 times more likely to be mildly depressed and 48.3 times more likely to have moderate-to-severe depression than their peers not involved in bullying and without ADHD, emphasizing increased vulnerabilities and risk for depression for bully-victims with ADHD. Other studies have found that bully-victims have high rates of ADHD (Schwartz, 2000; Verlinden et al., 2015). The ADHD x bullying x depression literature has often failed to include assessment of bully-victims in their research design, more commonly only dichotomizing bullying roles as either a bully or a victim (Simmons & Antshel, 2020). By only assessing victimization and perpetration as separate constructs, this research fails to consider the highest risk group for the poorest outcomes. To better understand ADHD youth's involvement in bully-victim behavior and the clinical interventions that will be most impactful for this unique group, it is critical that researchers include the role of bully-victims in their research. The bully-victim, ADHD and depression findings are some of the most compelling of the current study and speak to the clinical significance of this topic.

Aim 3

All analyses in Aim 3 controlled for child age, child sex, child race, and family SES.

Hypothesis 3.1 (Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity).

The aim of Aim 3, Hypothesis 1 was to investigate if there were negative associations between

bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity and whether positive parenting would have a protective effect for youth involved in bullying.

Bully perpetration and Positive Parenting. Results from the bully perpetration involvement x positive parenting and depression severity analyses were challenging to interpret given small variability across positive parenting groups, inconsistent trends, and low frequencies of depression. (See Tables 9 and A3.) With regard to bully perpetrators with mild depression, the only interpretable comparison between youth with and without bully perpetration was among youth with MHPP, as the introduction of bully perpetration increased the risk of mild depression. Other groups with mild depression were unable to be interpreted due to a lack of data (i.e., MLPP groups) and no significance difference (i.e., LPP) to the reference group. (See Table 9.)

Youth with bully perpetration and high positive parenting were significantly *less* likely to have mild depression than youth with HPP and no bully perpetration. This finding was unexpected. One way to consider this finding is to consider that of the four parenting groups, majority of parents reporting on bully perpetration (80%) rated themselves as engaging in HPP (see Table A3 for frequency data). Among parents with self-reported HPP, the data were heavily skewed in the direction of either their child having no engagement in bully perpetration and no depression (~33%) or yes engagement in bully perpetration and no depression (63.7%). There was little variability across levels of depression severity. Thus, despite parents reporting their child as a bully perpetrator, very few youths were reported to have mild depression or moderate-to-severe depression. This finding is inconsistent with the larger literature on bully perpetration and depression (Copeland et al., 2013; Takizawa et al., 2014), as it would be expected that youth who bully others would have higher rates of depression than youth not engaged in bullying.

Positive parenting appeared to be somewhat protective against moderate-to-severe depression among bully perpetrators, as bully perpetrating youth with higher positive parenting had a lower risk of depression compared to youth with low positive parenting. One association that was not expected among bully perpetrators with moderate-to-severe depression was that youth with moderately high positive parenting had a higher risk of depression than youth with moderately low positive parenting. A likely explanation for this is that there was little to no variability across levels of depression severity for youth with moderately low positive parenting.

Bullied and Positive Parenting. Results from the bullied x positive parenting and depression severity analyses were less inconsistent than the bully perpetration analyses likely due to greater variability in parent responses. Across bullied and non-victim youth parenting groups, there were three main trends that emerged: 1) there were negative associations between higher positive parenting and lower risk of mild and moderate-to-severe depression, consistent with the hypothesis, 2) victim youth had higher risks of depression than non-victim youth across all parenting groups, emphasizing the effect of bullying on mild and moderate-to-severe depression among victim youth, and 3) positive parenting was protective, however was not necessarily more protective for victim youth than non-victim youth.

Across parenting groups, apart from youth with HPP, victim youth were at increased risk for depression compared to non-victim youth. Victim youth with HPP were less likely than nonvictim youth with HPP to have mild depression. This finding suggests that high positive parenting moderated the effect of mild depression rather than being bullied, emphasizing the protective effect of high positive parenting for victim youth. Victim youth with MHPP had a higher risk of mild depression than non-victim youth with MHPP. This trend was also consistent when comparing bullied and non-victim youth with MLPP and LPP with mild depression. A similar trend was noted among youth with moderate-to-severe depression. Bulled youth were consistently at higher risk for moderate-to-severe depression compared to their non-bullied peers. These findings emphasize the effect of being bullied on youth's increased depression, across all positive parenting groups.

Despite the notable effect of being bullied on the risk for mild and moderate-to-severe depression, results from this analysis also emphasize the protectiveness of positive parenting for bullied and non-victim youth. Victim youth with MHPP were 16.5 times more likely to be mildly depressed relative to the reference group whereas victim youth with the lowest form of positive parenting (LPP) were 25.3 times more likely to be mildly depressed than the reference group. As with the bully perpetration youth, victim youth with MLPP appeared to fall out of this trend.

Among youth with moderate-to-severe depression, victim youth with the highest positive parenting had the lowest risk of moderate-to-severe depression relative to the reference group. Among victim youth with HPP, being bullied increased the risk of depression even in the presence of having the resource of HPP. Victim youth with the lowest positive parenting scores had the highest risk of moderate-to-severe depression. The influence of positive parenting among victim youth was evident given that youth with the highest positive parenting, regardless of being bullied, tended to have the lowest risk for depression. Likewise, youth with the lowest positive parenting, regardless of being bullied, were most at risk for depression. Among youth with more severe depression, the presence of being bullied appears to moderate depression more than that of positive parenting, evidenced by significant adjusted Wald tests between bullied and non-victim youth of similar parenting. For example, an adjusted Wald test between not victim and bullied among youth with MHPP and moderate to severe depression indicated a significant difference between these two groups, (p = 0.007).

Overall, positive parenting was protective for all youth and regardless of positive parenting, being victimized still increased risk of mild and moderate-to-severe depression. These results suggest the vulnerability of victim youth and the possibility that having positive parents is not enough to buffer against depression potentially driven by bullying. While findings of this analysis supported our hypothesis in that negative associations between bullying (bullied) involvement x positive parenting and depression severity were revealed, we also hypothesized that positive parenting would be protective against depression for victim youth, which was not entirely supported by our results. Research on parent-child relationships has long found that parenting factors, such as communication, involvement, warmth, and support can mitigate the risk of youth psychopathology and challenges with social functioning (Besser & Priel, 2003; Ebrahimi et al., 2017; Lereya et al., 2013). However, with regard to bullying and victimization, findings have been more mixed. One study found that while high levels of social support from family were important in fostering good mental health in adolescents, support from family and friends was not sufficient to protect adolescents from depression among other mental health challenges (Rothon, Head, Klineberg, & Stanfeld, 2011). In the current study, we did find positive parenting to be protective for youth; however, findings did not suggest that positive parenting was especially protective for victim youth over and beyond non-victim youth. Findings also suggest that being bullied might be too negatively impactful to be buffered by positive parenting. Given the importance of social acceptance during adolescence, it is possible that unless parents have very strong relationships with their children and maintain good communication, engage in problem solving together, manage parenting stress well, and feel confident about one's parenting skills (i.e., high positive parenting as defined in the current

study), victim youth might require additional resources (e.g., therapy, treatment) to help manage the risk of depression.

Bully-Victim and Positive Parenting. Results from the bully-victim x positive parenting and depression severity analyses were partially supportive of our hypothesis. As was the case in the bullied x positive parenting and depression analysis, there was an overall negative association between bully-victim involvement x positive parenting and depression severity. The trend was not perfectly linear, but bully-victim youth with HPP had the lowest risk of mild depression (RRR = 3.01) and bully-victim youth with LPP had the highest risk of mild depression (RRR = 24.92). Bully-victim youth with HPP did not have the lowest risk of moderate-to-severe depression (RRR = 304.84).

Positive parenting was generally protective for all bully-victim and non-bully-victim youth, however positive parenting was particularly protective for bully-victim youth with MHPP and mild depression, bully-victim youth with MLPP and mild depression, bully-victim youth with MHPP and moderate-to-severe depression, and bully-victim youth with MLPP and moderate-to-severe depression. In each of these groups, bully-victim youth had less risk for depression than non-bully-victim youth with similar positive parenting. Interestingly, HPP had a very small effect on mild depression relative to the reference group, suggesting that HPP is minimally protective for bully-victim youth relative to non-bully-victim youth. In other words, despite being exposed high positive parenting, being a bully-victim will increase youths' risk for mild and moderate-to-severe depression. Youth with LPP were at the most risk, relative to nonbully-victim youth with HPP. In sum, MHPP and MLPP appeared to be most protective at mitigating the risk of depression for bully-victims. For youth with HPP and LPP, the experience of both bullying others and being victims appeared to be most impactful on risk for depression, consistent with the literature.

Hypothesis 3.2 (Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity).

The aim of Aim 3, Hypothesis 2 was to investigate if ADHD moderates the association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression severity.

Bully perpetration, ADHD, and Positive Parenting. As in Aim 3, hypothesis 1, the bully perpetration data was difficult to interpret given small cell sizes and little to no variability across bully perpetration x positive parenting x ADHD and depression groups (see Tables 10 and A4). No youth (n = 0) whose parents identified as bully perpetrators, with or without ADHD, and with HPP were reported to have depression. Therefore, while notable and may be an interesting direction for future research, conclusions about ADHD and non-ADHD bully perpetrating youth with HPP were unable to be made. Across all other positive parenting groups, youth with ADHD had a higher risk of depression than youth without ADHD. This was most evident among youth with MHPP, as having ADHD significantly increased the risk of depression for bully perpetrating youth with MHPP and ADHD.

Positive parenting was generally protective against depression for bully perpetrating youth with and without ADHD. In the analysis, the addition of ADHD did not greatly increase the beta coefficients. An exception to this was with bully perpetrating youth with ADHD and LPP. The presence of having ADHD significantly increased the risk for depression, which was consistent our hypothesis. *Bullied, ADHD, and Positive Parenting.* Results from the bullied x ADHD x positive parenting and depression analyses were generally consistent with the bullied analyses from Aim 3, hypothesis 1. As shown in Table 10, across all parenting groups, youth with ADHD were consistently at a significantly increased risk of having depression relative to the reference group and to non-ADHD victim youth with similar positive parenting. This finding supported our hypothesis, emphasizing the risk of depression for victim youth.

Also consistent among victim youth in this analysis was an overall protective effect of positive parenting for all youth in this analysis, regardless of youth having ADHD. This is evident from the negative association between positive parenting and depression (see Table 10). Interestingly, post hoc adjusted Wald tests provided evidence that having ADHD appeared to moderate associations between victim youth with and without ADHD and risk of depression across all four positive parenting groups. Given the consistency of significant adjusted Wald test across all parenting groups, it is likely that positive parenting had less of an effect on the risk depression than ADHD.

Bully-Victim. ADHD, and Positive Parenting. The bully-victim x ADHD x positive parenting and depression analysis revealed similar trends as the bullied x ADHD x positive parenting and depression analysis. First, there was an overall negative association between positive parenting and depression for all bully-victim youth, regardless of whether youth also had ADHD. Second, adjusted Wald tests revealed the moderating effect of ADHD on risk of depression among bully-victim youth with MHPP without ADHD and bully-victim youth with ADHD. A similar finding was revealed among bully-victim youth with MLPP with no ADHD and bully-victim youth with MLPP and ADHD.

Implications

62

The current findings may be used to inform clinicians of the increased risk of depression youth with ADHD experience, especially those who are engaged in any form of bullying behaviors. The current findings should encourage clinicians to consider the implications of comorbid diagnoses ADHD and depression, with a particular focus on social functioning and the development of social skills. For example, the current study found that youth with ADHD were at significantly higher risk of being both a bully and victim (i.e., bully-victim) than youth without ADHD, increasing their vulnerability to depression (Georgiou & Stavrinides, 2008; Toblin et al., 2005), and difficulty forming healthy relationships (O'Brennan et al., 2009). While longitudinal replication of this study is needed to better understand temporal sequencing of bullying engagement and depression, early intervention to address social and functional impairments associated with ADHD may mitigate the need to later address bullying involvement and depression. As shown in the current study, youth with ADHD were at greater risk for depression than their non-ADHD peers. This was especially true of youth with ADHD involved in more frequent (weekly or daily) bullying behavior compared to those involved less frequently. Clinicians should encourage parents to keep an open dialogue with their children about their relationships with peers and help them problem-solve any potential social struggles. Doing so may buffer against the development of depression. The current findings regarding the potential for positive parenting to be protective should also be used to consider clinical interventions for parents and children with ADHD. Findings of this study should also inform clinicians of the protective effects of positive parenting and under what circumstances positive parenting may not be protective enough to mitigate the risk of depression.

Limitations and Future Directions

There are several limitations to the current study. First, due to the cross-sectional nature of the present study, is not possible to infer causal relationships among study variables.

Despite a large sample size, the cell counts of variables examined in this study were often considerably small, increasing the risk for overestimation effects. The number of bully perpetrators, youth with depression, and lower positive parenting scores were particularly small, leading to most associations being statistically significant and with considerably large effects. This should be considered when interpreting the findings of the current study.

All data collected by the NSCH was parent-report, potentially failing to capture the full extent of youth's history of depression, involvement in bullying, and frequency of bullying involvement. The use of multiple informants has been recommended in child and adolescent mental health assessment to gather the most accurate view of presenting problems (Kim, Chan, McCauley, & Stoep, 2016), as levels of agreement between parent and youth reports of emotional and behavioral problems is generally low (Achenbach et al., 1987; Sourander et al., 1999). Regarding depression specifically, research has found that parents tend to underreport symptoms of their child's depression compared to child's self-report (De Los Reyes & Kazdin, 2005; Humphreys et al., 2007). Regarding bullying behaviors, support for parent-report of youth's bullying involvement is mixed (Shakoor et al., 2011) and factors such as child age and parent-child relationship should be considered. Future research should consider using a multiinformant approach to assess for parenting behaviors as well to avoid potential biased reporting.

While the NSCH asked parents to report on their children's bullying involvement, the NSCH did not define what behaviors constitute as "bullying behavior." Failure to operationalize "bullying" on measures has been an ongoing problem highlighted in the bullying literature for several years. Specifically, researchers have questioned whether youth and adults have a similar
idea of the behaviors that meet the standards of "bullying" (Vaillancourt, McDougall, Hymel, et al. 2008; Volk, Veenstra, & Espelage 2017). In future NSCH surveys, it is recommended that bullying behavior be operationalized for survey respondents as a repetitive and intentional aggressive behavior that occurs in an unequal power dynamic between a perpetrator and a victim (Olweus, 1993).

As indicated previously, bullying behavior presents differently across development and academic grades (Currie, 2012; Espelage & Swearer, 2003; Vaillancourt et al., 2010). A limitation of the current study was that most analyses grouped together youth between the ages of 6 and 17 years and did not account for developmental differences. Had we grouped youth by developmental stages, while overall prevalence of bullying involvement would have remained consistent, findings may have provided more insight into specific clinical implications for youth of particular ages and cross-sectionally examined positive parenting patterns for youth over time (across age groups).

Despite efforts of the NSCH to reflect a nationally represented sample, the sample of the current study was mostly White, majority of youth came from a two-parent household, most parents were highly educated, and parents generally reported themselves to have very good mental and physical health. Given these factors, it is possible that the findings of the current study do not generalize to families with increased stressors and adversities.

Similarly, while child's race was controlled for in the analyses, the current study did not explore racial differences. Parenting practices vary across races (Pinquart & Kauser, 2018; Spriggs et al., 2007), as do ADHD diagnosis and treatment seeking (Coker et al., 2016; Morgan et al., 2013), bullying involvement (Goldweber et al., 2013; Spriggs et al., 2007), and rates of depression diagnoses (Richardson et al., 2003) in children and adolescents. Assessing racial differences within the ADHD/bullying/depression literature would increase generalizability of findings.

While child sex and age were controlled for in the analyses, examining differences in the findings across these demographic variables was outside the scope of the current study. Differences in the prevalence rates of depression in males versus females (McGuinness et al., 2012), sex differences within ADHD (Arnett et al., 2015), rates of depression increasing with age (Cyranowski et al., 2000), and developmental differences related to bullying involvement and depressive symptoms should be further examined within the ADHD/bullying/depression literature.

Conclusion

Youth with ADHD are at increased independent risk for bullying involvement (McQuade et al., 2018) and depression (Biederman et al., 2006) yet the topic of bullying involvement and depression *together* within an ADHD population has historically been far less well studied (Zych et al., 2019). Due to its high prevalence rate as well as the independent associations ADHD has with bullying involvement and depression, efforts to understand bullying involvement and depression in ADHD is clinically and empirically relevant. Research on the relation between ADHD and bullying is still in its early stages and less is known about the risk and protective factors that may contribute to the development or buffering of depression in these youth.

The current study was novel given 1) the association between the frequency of bullying involvement and depression severity for youth with and without ADHD had not been examined before, 2) the association between bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression/depression severity was investigated to better understand ADHD and depression comorbidity and contribute to the growing literature in this area, and 3) ADHD was considered as a moderator in bullying involvement x positive parenting and depression to help inform interventions for youth with ADHD.

Findings revealed the positive association between bullying engagement and depression severity, regardless of bullying role. Youth with ADHD had higher rates of depression severity than non-ADHD youth, particularly when engaged in frequent bullying behaviors as opposed to less frequent bullying behaviors. Youth with ADHD who were bullied by peers and youth with ADHD who both bullied others and were bullied themselves (i.e., bully-victims) were most at risk for mild and moderate-to-severe depression. While positive parenting behaviors were generally protective for youth with and without ADHD, the presence of bullying involvement and ADHD often outweighed the potential protective factor of positive parenting. Bully-victims youth with ADHD were most resistant to positive parenting as a protective factor. These results highlight the need for continued research to understand the risk for depression and positive parenting as a protective factor among youth with ADHD.

Participant characteristics

Child/Adolescent	Ν	%	M age
Total	38,221	100	
Sex	,		
Male	19,011	49.7	
Female	19,210	50.3	
Child Age Range			8.6 years
6	2,984	7.8	
7	3,008	7.9	
8	3,271	8.6	
9	3,221	8.4	
10	3,290	8.6	
11	3,263	8.5	145
Adolescent Age Range	2 210	07	14.7 years
12	3,310	8./ 8.2	
15	3,177	8.3 8.2	
14	3,165	0.J 8 2	
16	3,130	8.2 8.4	
17	3 160	8.3	
Race	5,100	0.0	
White	25 848	67.6	
Black or African American	5 182	13.6	
American Indian or Alaska Native	484	1.3	
Asian	1.901	5.0	
Native Hawaiian	653	1.2	
Other	1,219	3.2	
Two or more races	3,136	8.2	
Bully Involvement Role			
No involvement	19,626	51.4	
Only bully perpetrator	791	2.1	
Only victim	11,076	30.0	
Bully perp + victim (Bully-victim)	6,726	17.6	
ADHD			
No	34,471	90.2	
Yes	3,750	9.8	
Current Depression Severity			
None	36,642	95.9	
Mild	752	1.9	
Moderate	694	1.8	

Severe	130	0.3
Parents		
Sex		
Male	11,619	30.4
Female	26,448	69.2
Current Age	1 275	2.6
18-29	1,375	3.0 30.5
40-49	16 664	43.6
50-59	6.421	16.8
60-69	1,381	3.6
70+	498	1.3
Highest Grade Level		
8 th grade or less	1,681	4.4
9-12 th grade, no diploma	3,592	9.4
High School graduate or GED complete	6,038	15.8
Completed vocational trade or business	2,369	6.2
Some college, no degree	5,083	13.3
Associate's degree	3,172	8.3
Bachelor's degree	9,020	23.6
Master's degree	5,503	14.4
Doctorate or Professional Degree	1,758	4.6
Marital Status		
Married	27,557	72.1
Not married, but living with partner	2,140	5.6
Never married	2,790	7.3
Divorced	3,860	10.1
Separated	1,223	3.2
Widowed	657	1.8
Physical Health		
Excellent	9,746	25.5
Very good	15,364	40.2
Good	10,090	26.4
Fair	2,484	6.5
Poor	687	1.5
Mental Health		
Excellent	14,409	37.7
Very good	14,638	38.3
Good	7,491	19.6

Fair	1,442	3.8
Poor	256	0.7
Poverty Level of Household		
0-99% FPL	6,841	17.9
100-199% FPL	8,102	21.2
200-399% FPL	10,969	28.7
400% FPL or greater	12,345	32.3
Family Structure		
Two biological/adoptive parents, currently	22,473	58.8
Two biological/adoptive parents, not currently	2,178	5.7
Two parents (at least one biological)	2,255	5.9
Two parents (at least one not biological)	802	2.1
Single mother	6,879	18.0
Single father	1,681	4.4
Grandparent household	1,414	3.7
Other relation	573	1.5
Positive Parenting Groups		
High positive parenting (HPP)	11,313	29.6
Moderately high positive parenting (MHPP)	20,180	52.8
Moderately low positive parenting (MLPP)	6,459	16.9
Low positive parenting (MLPP)	305	0.8

Parenting Constructs

Parenting Construct	Survey Item(s)	Survey Item Response
		Choices
Communication	How well can you and this child share ideas	1. Very well
	of talk about things that really matter?	2. Somewhat
	c i	3. Not very well
		4. Not well at all
Parenting Self	How well do you think you are handling the	1. Very well
Efficacy	day-to-day demands of raising children?	2. Somewhat
		3. Not very well
		4. Not well at all
Problem Solving	When your family faces problems, how	1. All of the time
C	often are you likely to work together to	2. Most of the time
	solve your problems?	3. Some of the time
		4. None of the time
Parenting Stress	During the past month, how often have you	1. Never
0	felt this child is much harder to care for than	2. Rarely
	most children his/her age?	3. Sometimes
	č	4. Usually/ Always
Note Cropbach's coe	officient (communication parenting self-efficac	y problem solving and

Note. Cronbach's coefficient (communication, parenting self-efficacy, problem solving and parenting stress): .863 (good to excellent range).

Planned Analyses

Aims/ Hypotheses	Statistical Measure	Independent Variable(s)	Dependent Variable(s)
1a	Chi-square test of independence	ADHD (yes/no)	Bullying involvement (each role; yes/no)
1b	Chi-square test of independence	ADHD (yes/no)	Depression (yes/no)
1c	Chi-square test of independence	Age group (Child vs. Adolescent)	 Bullying involvement (each role; yes/no) Depression (yes/no)
2a	Multinomial logistic regression	Bullying frequency (each role)	Depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe)
2b	Multinomial logistic regression	 Bullying frequency (bully and victim) ADHD (yes/no) ADHD*Bullying 	Depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe)
3a	Multinomial logistic regression	 Bullying involvement (each role) Positive parenting score Bullying*Positive parenting 	Depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe)
3b	Binary regression	 ADHD (yes/no) Positive parenting score Bullying involvement (each role) ADHD*Bullying ADHD*Positive parenting Bullying*Positive parenting ADHD*Bullying*Positive parenting 	Depression (yes/no)

Aim 1, Hypothesis 1, ADHD and Bully Involvement

	No Involvement	Bully Perpetrator	Victim	Bully- Victim	Total	
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	χ^2
ADHD						
No	18,445 (53.51)	651 (1.89)	9,788 (28.4)	5,587 (16.21)	34,471 (100)	
Yes	1,181 (31.5)	140 (3.74)	1,288 (34.35)	1,141 (30.41)	3,750 (100)	
						866.68***

Note: *** *indicates statistical significance that is* \leq .000.

Aim 1, Hypothesis 2, ADHD and Depression

	Depression No	Depression Yes	Total	
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	χ^2
ADHD				
No	18,703 (92.6)	1,499 (7.4)	20,202 (100)	
Yes	2,289 (73.88)	814 (26.2)	3,103 (100)	
Total	20,992 (90.1)	2,313 (9.9)	23,305 (100)	
				1,009.35***

Note: *** *indicates statistical significance that is* \leq .000.

		Depres	sion			Bullying Involvement						
	No Yes Total		Total		No Involvement	Bully Perpetrator	Victim	Bully- Victim	Total			
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	χ^2	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)	χ^2		
Subgroup												
Child Adolescent	17,104 (97.69) 21,200 (90.07)	404 (2.31) 2,336 (9.93)	17,508 (100) 23,536 (100)		6,640 (38.17) 12,931 (55.47)	302 (1.74) 483 (2.07)	6,080 (34.95) 6,561 (28.14)	4,375 (25.15) 3,337 (14.31)	17,397 (100) 23,312 (100)			
	(*****)	(202)	88	82.09 [;]	***	()	(2012.)	(2	117	'1.56***		

Aim 1, Hypothesis 3	, Depression	and Bully	Involvement in	Children and	Adolescents
---------------------	--------------	-----------	----------------	--------------	-------------

Note: *** *indicates statistical significance that is* \leq .000.

Aim $2, 1$	<i>Hypothesis</i>	1, Bu	llv In	volvement	Frequency	and	Depression	Severity
	1	/	~		1 /		1	~

	Mild Depression (vs. No depression)				Moderate to Severe Depression (vs. No depression)			
Variable (Reference Category)	b	р	95% CI	RRR	b	р	95% CI	RRR
PANEL 1: Bully Perpetration (Never)								
Infrequent bully perpetration	.83	*** a	[.56, 1.11]	2.30	1.03	*** b	[.72, 1.34]	2.79
Frequent bully perpetration	2.68	*** a	[1.72, 3.65]	14.64	2.53	*** b	[1.86, 3.21]	12.59
PANEL 2: Victim (No)								
Infrequent victim	1.53	*** c	[1.19, 1.87]	4.60	1.44	*** d	[1.06, 1.82]	4.21
Frequent victim	2.74	***C	[2.31, 3.17]	15.47	3.25	*** d	[2.82, 3.69]	25.88
Panel 3: Bully-victim (Never)								
Yes	2.01	***	[1.57, 2.44]	4.99	2.17	***	[1.77, 2.58]	7.45

Note: * *indicates statistical significance of* ≤ 05 *,* ** *indicates statistical significance that is* $\leq .01$ *, and* *** *indicates statistical significance that is* $\leq .000$ *.*

RRR = *relative risk ratio*.

Subscript ^{*a*} reflects a significant Adjusted Wald coefficient (AWC) between infrequent and frequent bully perpetrators with mild depression, (p = .000).

^b reflects a significant AWC between infrequent and frequent bully perpetrators with moderate to severe depression, (p < .001).

^c reflects a significant AWC between those infrequently and frequent victim with mild depression, (p = .000).

^{*d*} reflects a significant AWC between those infrequently and frequent victim with moderate to severe depression, (p = .000).

Aim 2, Hypothesis 2, Bully Involvement Frequency, ADHD, and Depression Severity

		Mild Depression (vs. No depression)				Moderate to Severe Depression (vs. No depression)			
Variable (Reference Category)	b	р	95% CI	RRR	b	р	95% CI	RRR	
PANEL 1: Bully Perpetration (None) & ADHD (None)									
No bully perpetration & ADHD	.70	***	[.32, 1.07]	2.01	.80	***	[.41, 1.18]	2.22	
Infrequent bully perpetration & No ADHD	3.26	*** a	[2.14, 4.39]	26.16	2.72	***	[1.71, 3.73]	15.18	
Infrequent bully perpetration & ADHD	1.90	*** a	[1.58, 2.22]	6.68	2.12	***	[1.75, 2.48]	8.30	
Frequent bully perpetration & No ADHD	2.48	***	[2.02, 2.88]	11.98	2.93	***	[2.51, 3.36]	18.81	
Frequent bully perpetration & ADHD	2.24	***	[1.52, 2.98]	9.38	3.25	***	[2.42, 4.09]	25.92	
PANEL 2: Victim (Never) & ADHD (None)								
Never victim & ADHD	1.33	***	[.90, 1.76]	3.78	1.46	***	[1.02, 1.90]	4.30	
Infrequent victim& No ADHD	2.63	*** b	[2.05, 3.20]	13.85	3.37	*** d	[2.82, 3.91]	29.17	
Infrequent victim & ADHD	1.49	*** b	[.93, 2.05]	4.44	2.46	*** d	[1.78, 3.16]	11.85	
Frequent victim & No ADHD	2.99	*** c	[2.57, 3.42]	19.97	3.33	*** e	[2.85, 3.81]	27.96	
Frequent victim & ADHD	3.55	***c	[3.00, 4.09]	9.64	3.64	*** e	[3.92, 5.02]	87.59	
Panel 3: Bully-victim (None) & ADH	D (None)							
Yes Bully-victim & ADHD	3.21	***	[2.72, 3.69]	24.73	3.88	***	[3.38, 4.38]	48.28	

Note: * *indicates statistical significance of* $\leq .05$ *,* ** *indicates statistical significance that is* $\leq .01$ *, and* *** *indicates statistical significance that is* $\leq .000$ *.*

Subscript ^{*a*} reflects a significant Adjusted Wald coefficient (AWC) between infrequent bully perpetrators with and without ADHD, with mild depression, (p = .02).

^b reflects a significant AWC between infrequent victim with and without ADHD, with mild depression, (p = .001).

^c reflects a significant AWC between frequent victim with and without ADHD, with mild depression, (p = .03).

^d reflects a significant AWC between infrequent victim with and without ADHD, with moderate to severe depression, (p = .014).

^e reflects a significant AWC between frequent victim with and without ADHD, with moderate to severe depression, (p = .000).

Aim 3, Hypothesis 1, Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity

			Mild Depression (vs. No depression)			Moderate/Severe Depression (vs. No depression)		
Variable (Reference Category)	b	р	95% CI	RRR	b	р	95% CI	RRR
PANEL 1: Bully Perpetration (N	one) & Par	enting (1	High Positive)					
Bully perpetration & HPP	.66	*	[.14, 1.18]	1.93	1.65	***	[.18, 2.11]	5.21
No bully perpetration & MHPP	1.76	*** a	[1.28, 2.24]	5.81	3.34	*** c	[2.89, 3.80]	28.32
Bully perpetration & MHPP	2.60	*** a	[1.67, 3.53]	13.45	4.42	*** C	[3.69, 5.15]	82.85
No bully perpetration & MLPP	-20.53	*** b	[-21.18, -19.89]	0.00	-19.39	*** d	[-20.04, -18.73]	0.00
Bully perpetration & MLPP	13	ns^b	[-1.25, .99]	0.88	2.65	*** d	[.85, 4.54]	14.17
No bully perpetration & LPP	1.91	***	[.76, 3.06]	6.76	2.49	***	[1.59, 3.39]	12.06
Bully perpetration & LPP	1.46	ns	[42, 3.34]	4.30	3.90	***	[1.57, 6.22]	49.21
PANEL 2: Victim (None) & Pare	nting (Posit	ive)						
Victim & HPP	.76	ns	[04, 1.55]	2.13	2.26	***	[1.44, 3.07]	9.56
Not victim & MHPP	1.93	***	[1.22, 2.63]	6.86	4.05	*** e	[3.27, 4.83]	57.36
Victim & MHPP	2.80	***	[1.61, 4.02]	16.50	4.97	** *e	[4.00, 5.95]	144.73
Not victim & MLPP	1.11	*	[.22, 2.00]	3.04	2.06	*** f	[1.16, 2.95]	7.81
Victim & MLPP	1.56	***	[.85, 2.27]	4.76	3.25	*** f	[2.44, 4.05]	25.69
Not victim & LPP	2.61	***	[1.89, 3.34]	13.66	4.67	*** g	[3.85, 5.48]	106.30
Victim & LPP	3.23	***	[1.76, 4.71]	25.33	5.89	*** g	[4.57, 7.20]	360.41

Panel 3: Bully-victim (None) & Parenting (High Positive)

Bully-victim & HPP	1.10	*	[.21, 1.99]	3.01	3.79	***	[2.92, 4.66]	44.29
No bully-victim & MHPP	2.31	**	[.96, 3.66]	10.07	4.79	***	[3.28, 6.31]	120.65
Bully-victim & MHPP	1.64	***	[.82, 2.47]	5.18	3.73	***	[2.91, 4.55]	41.74
No bully-victim & MLPP	2.71	***h	[1.87, 3.54]	15.04	5.02	***i	[4.21, 5.83]	151.96
Bully-victim & MLPP	1.04	ns^h	[09, 2.17]	23.27	2.32	** i	[.63, 4.02]	10.21
No bully-victim & LPP	2.07	***	[1.02, 3.12]	7.94	3.70	*** j	[3.70, .44]	40.58
Bully-victim & LPP	3.22	***	[1.72, 4.71]	24.92	5.72	*** j	[4.71, 6.73]	304.84

Note: * indicates statistical significance of ≤ 05 , ** indicates statistical significance that is $\leq .01$, and *** indicates statistical significance that is $\leq .000$.

Ns indicates non-significance

Subscript ^{*a*} reflects a significant Adjusted Wald coefficient (AWC) between no bully perpetration and bully perpetrations among youth with MHPP and mild depression, (p = .05).

^b reflects a significant AWC between no bully perpetration and bully perpetration among youth with MLPP and mild depression, (p =.000).

^c reflects a significant AWC between no bully perpetration and bully perpetration among youth with MHPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .001).

^{*d*} reflects a significant AWC between no bully perpetration and bully perpetration among youth with MLPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .000).

^{*e*} reflects a significant AWC between not victim and bullied among youth with MHPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .007). ^{*f*} reflects a significant AWC between not victim and bullied among youth with MLPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .000).

^g reflects a significant AWC between not victim and bullied among youth with LPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .035).

^h reflects a significant AWC between not a bully-victim and bully-victim among youth with MLPP and mild depression, (p = .000).

ⁱ reflects a significant AWC between not a bully-victim and bully-victim among youth with MLPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .001).

^j reflects a significant AWC between not a bully-victim and bully-victim among youth with LPP and moderate to severe depression, (p = .000).

Table 10

	Depression (vs. no depression)					
Variable (Reference Category)	b	р	95% CI	OR		
PANEL 1: Bully Perpetration (None), Parenting (High Positive), ADHD	(None)					
Bully perpetration, HPP, & No ADHD	0 ^a					
Bully perpetration, HPP, & ADHD	0 ^b					
Bully perpetration, MHPP, & No ADHD	.18	.ns ^c	[87, 1.24]	1.20		
Bully perpetration, MHPP, & ADHD	4.18	*** c	[2.25, 6.10]	65.37		
Bully perpetration, MLPP, & No ADHD	2.28	***	[1.27, 3.29]	9.78		
Bully perpetration, MLPP, & ADHD	2.54	***	[1.40, 3.67]	12.68		
Bully perpetration, LPP, & No ADHD	-1.07	ns ^d	[-2.91, .76]	.34		
Bully perpetration, LPP, & ADHD	7.21	*** d	[5.11, 9.29]	1,352.89		
PANEL 2: Victim (None), Parenting (High Positive), ADHD (None)						
Victim, HPP, & No ADHD	1.21	** e	[.43, 1.99]	3.35		
Victim, HPP, & ADHD	2.91	*** e	[1.68, 4.15]	18.36		
Victim, MHPP, & No ADHD	1.92	*** f	[1.24, 2.60]	6.82		
Victim, MHPP, & ADHD	3.36	*** f	[2.63, 4.10]	28.79		
Victim & MLPP, & No ADHD	3.05	*** g	[2.33, 3.76]	21.11		
Victim & MLPP, & ADHD	4.36	*** g	[3.61, 5.11]	78.26		

Aim 3, Hypothesis 2, Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, ADHD, and Depression (Yes/No)

Victim & LPP, & No ADHD	3.40	***h	[2.22, 4.59]	29.96
Victim & LPP, & ADHD	5.39	***h	[4.05, 6.72]	219.20
Panel 3: Bully-victim (None), Parenting (High Positive), ADHD (None)				
Bully-victim, HPP & No ADHD	1.51	**	[.40, 2.62]	4.53
Bully-victim, HPP, & ADHD	1.12	ns	[61, 2.85]	3.06
Bully-victim, MHPP, & No ADHD	2.48	***i	[1.47, 3.49]	11.94
Bully-victim, MHPP, & ADHD	3.35	***i	[2.45, 4.26]	28.50
Bully-victim, MLPP, & No ADHD	3.01	*** j	[2.13, 3.90]	20.29
Bully-victim, MLPP, & ADHD	4.77	*** j	[3.89, 5.64]	117.92
Bully-victim, LPP, & No ADHD	3.76	***	[2.17, 5.35]	42.95
Bully-victim, LPP, & ADHD	4.78	***	[3.63, 5.94]	119.10

Note: * indicates statistical significance of $\leq .05$, ** indicates statistical significance that is $\leq .01$, and *** indicates statistical significance that is $\leq .000$.

Ns indicates non-significance

Subscript ^a N=78 cases were dropped because of lack of variation. N=78 predicted no depression perfectly.

 $^{b}N = 8$ cases were dropped because of lack of variation. N=8 predicted no depression perfectly.

^c reflects a significant Adjusted Wald coefficient (AWC) between bully perpetration with and without ADHD among youth with MHPP and depression, (p = .000).

^{*d*} reflects a significant AWC between bully perpetration with and without ADHD among youth with LPP and depression, (p = .000).

^e reflects a significant AWC between victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with HPP and depression, (p = .004).

^{*f*} reflects a significant AWC between victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with MHPP and depression, (p = .000).

^g reflects a significant AWC between victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with MLPP and depression, (p = .000).

^h reflects a significant AWC between victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with LPP and depression, (p = .012).

^{*i*} reflects a significant AWC between bully-victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with MHPP and depression, (p = .023).

^j reflects a significant AWC between bully-victim youth with and without ADHD among youth with MLPP and depression, (p = .000).

Appendix

Population Descriptive Data and Frequencies

Frequencies and cell counts of all study variables for Aim 1 are presented in Tables 4-6 in the main body of this paper and frequencies and cell counts of all study variables for Aims 2 and 3 are presented in Tables A1-A4 in this appendix.

Aim 1

Hypothesis 1.1 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table 4 presents all descriptive population data for variables in Aim 1, hypothesis 1. Overall, youth with ADHD were more likely to be engaged in bullying involvement than youth without ADHD. Specifically, 1.89% (n = 651) of youth without ADHD were identified as bullies, whereas 3.74% (n = 140) of youth with ADHD were identified as bullies. 28.4% (n = 9,788) of non-ADHD youth were identified as victims compared to 34.35% (n = 1,288) of youth with ADHD. Around 16.21% (n = 5,587) of youth without ADHD were identified as bully-victims while nearly 30.41% (n = 1,141) of youth with ADHD were identified as bully-victims.

Hypothesis 1.2 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table 5 presents descriptive population data for variables in Aim 1, hypothesis 2. Adolescents with ADHD were more than three times more likely to have depression at the time of survey completion (26.23%, n = 814) than adolescents without ADHD (7.42%, n = 1,499).

Hypothesis 1.3 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table 6 presents frequencies for Aim 1, hypothesis 3. Nearly 10% (n = 2,336) of adolescents in the full sample were reported to be depressed, whereas 2.31% (n = 404) of children were identified to be depressed. As for bullying involvement, more adolescents were rated as being less involved in bullying behavior (55.47%, n = 12,931) compared to children (38.17%, n = 6,640). However, more adolescents were identified as bully perpetrators (2.07%, n = 483) compared to children (1.74%, n = 302). Children in the sample had higher rates of victims (34.95%, n = 6,080) and bully-victims (25%, n = 4,375), compared to adolescents (28.14%, n = 6,561 and 1.314%, n = 3,337, respectively). *Aim 2*

Hypothesis 2.1 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table A1 presents all descriptive population data for variables in Aim 2, hypothesis 1, specifically cases of bully involvement frequency (never/none, infrequently, frequently) by role (bully perpetrator, victim, bully-victim) and depression severity (none, mild, moderate-severe) as the outcome variable.

Bully perpetrators. Among youth who did not bully others in the past year, nearly 96% (n = 30,806) did not have depression, whereas 2.23% (n = 718) were reported to have mild depression, and nearly 1.94% (n = 623) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among infrequent bully perpetrators, 92.04% (n = 7,392) of youth did not have depression, 3.81% (n = 306) had mild depression, and 4.15% (n = 333) had moderate-to-severe depression. For youth who bullied others more frequently, 79.32% (n = 349) were found to have no depression, 7.95% (n = 35) had mild depression, and 12.73% (n = 56) had moderate-to-severe depression.

Victims. Most youth who had not been bullied in the past year did not have depression (97.7%, n = 19,845), whereas 1.25% of victims (n = 254) had mild depression and 1.05% (n = 214) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among infrequent victim youth, 93.61% (n = 17,000) did not experience depression, 3.46% (n = 628) experienced mild depression, and almost 2.93% (n = 533) had moderate-to-severe depression. Most frequent victim youth were found to have no depression (79.31%, n = 1,690). However, 8.35% (n = 178) and 12.34% (n = 263) were identified has having mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively.

Bully-Victims. Majority of youth with no history of bullying did not have depression (97.84%, n = 19,079), whereas 1.10% (n = 233) had mild depression and 0.96% (n = 188) had moderate-to-severe depression. Of youth with some bullying behavior (i.e., engagement in either bully or victim, but not both bully and victim) nearly 92.79% (n = 12,339) did not have depression, whereas 3.78% (n = 505) had mild depression and 3.43% (n = 459) had moderate-to-severe depression. Regarding youth identified as bully-victims, 91.11% (n = 6,983) were identified has not having depression, 4.19% (n = 321) had mild depression, and 4.70% (n = 360) had moderate-to-severe depression.

Hypothesis 2.2 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table A2 presents all descriptive population data for variables in Aim 2, hypothesis 2, specifically cases of youth with bully involvement frequency (never/none, infrequently, frequently) by role (bully perpetrator, victim, bully-victim) and ADHD (yes/no), and depression severity (none, mild, moderate-severe) as the outcome variable.

Bully perpetrators (frequency) and ADHD groups. Among youth with no bully perpetration and no ADHD, almost 97% (n = 28,041) did not have depression, whereas 1.67% (n = 483) had mild depression and 1.38% (n = 399) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among the group of youth with no bully perpetration and ADHD, 94.65% (n = 6,179) did not have depression, however 2.68% (n = 175) and 2.67% (n = 174) had mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Youth who infrequently bullied others and did not have ADHD, 90.96% did not have depression, whereas 3.83% (n = 22) had mild depression and 5.22% (n =30) had moderate-to-severe depression. Youth who infrequently bullied and had ADHD had slightly higher rates of depression. Specifically, 85.76% (n = 2,765) did not have depression, 7.29% (n = 235) had mild depression and 6.95% (n = 224) had moderate-to-severe depression. As for youth who frequently bullied but did not have ADHD, 80% (n = 1,150) did not have depression, 8.91% (n = 128) had mild depression and 11% (n = 159) had moderate-to-severe depression. Lastly, most youth who frequently bullied and had ADHD (67.80%, n = 120) did not have depression, compared to 11.86% (n = 21) who had mild depression and 20.34% (n = 36) who had moderate-to-severe depression.

Victim (frequency) and ADHD groups. Among non-victim youth without ADHD, 98.22% (n = 18,180) did not have depression, whereas 1% (n = 189) had mild depression and 0.76% (n = 140) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among the victim youth with ADHD, 95.45% (n = 14,719) did not have depression, however 2.52% (n = 388) and 2% (n = 313) had mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Among youth who were infrequent victims and did not have ADHD, almost 85% did not have depression, whereas 6% (n = 91) had mild depression and 9% (n = 134) had moderate-to-severe depression. Youth who were infrequent victims and had ADHD had lower rates of depression. Specifically, 91.56% (n =1,475) did not have depression, however 3.91% (n = 63) had mild depression and 4.53% (n = 73) had moderate-to-severe depression. As for youth who were frequent victims and did not have ADHD, 82.57% (n = 2,136) did not have depression, nearly 9.08% (n = 235) had mild depression and 8.35% (n = 216) had moderate-to-severe depression. Lastly, most youth who were frequent victims and had ADHD did not have depression (66.09%, n = 419), compared to 13.56% (n = 86) who had mild depression and 20.35% (n = 129) who had moderate-to-severe depression.

Bully-Victim and ADHD groups. Among youth with no history of a bully-victim status within the past year and no ADHD, 98.32% (n = 17,539) did not have depression, whereas 1.02% (n = 176) had mild depression and 0.76% (n = 124) had moderate-to-severe depression.

Among the group of youth with no bully-victim history and ADHD, 94.74% (n = 10,780) did not have depression, while 2.76% (n = 314) and 2.50% (n = 284) had mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Among youth who had some involvement in bullying behavior and no ADHD, nearly 94.22% (n = 5,772) did not have depression, whereas 2.89% (n = 177) had mild depression and 2.89% (n = 177) had moderate-to-severe depression. Most youth with some bullying behavior and ADHD (nearly 92%, n = 1,358) did not have depression, whereas 3.79% (n = 56) had mild depression and 4.27% (n = 63) had moderate-to-severe depression. As for youth who were bully-victims and did not have ADHD, almost 81% (n = 1,511) did not have depression, compared to nearly 10% (n = 186) with mild depression and 9.15% (n = 171) with moderate-to-severe depression. Lastly, among bully-victim youth with ADHD, 78% (n = 1,152) did not have depression, compared to 9.61% (n = 142) who had mild depression and 12.39% (n =183) who had moderate-to-severe depression.

Aim 3

Hypothesis 3.1 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table A3 presents all descriptive population data for variables in Aim 3, hypothesis 1, specifically cases of youth with bully involvement (bully perpetrator, victim, bully-victim), positive parenting groups (HPP, MHPP, MLPP, and LPP), and depression severity (none, mild, moderate/severe) as the outcome variable.

Bully Perpetration and Positive Parenting. Among youth who did not bully others and whose parents rated themselves as engaging in high positive parenting (HPP), 98.50% (n = 10,616) were found to have no depression, whereas around 1% (n = 109) had mild depression, and around 0.49% (n = 53) had moderate-to-severe depression. Bully perpetrators with HPP had higher slightly rates of depression, 96.35% (n = 20,268) of youth were found to have no depression, 2.13% (n = 449) had mild depression, and 1.51% (n = 318) had moderate-to-severe

depression. Among non-bully perpetrators with moderately high positive parenting (MHPP), 86.21% (n = 6.054) were found to have no depression, 6.11% (n = 429) had mild depression, and 7.68% (n = 539) had moderate-to-severe depression. In contrast, bully perpetrators with MHPP had higher rates of depression, however cell counts were significantly smaller. Among bully perpetrators with moderately high positive parenting (MHPP), 66.13% (n = 205) were found to have no depression, 11.94% (n = 37) had mild depression, and nearly 22% (n = 68) had moderate-to-severe depression. For non-bully perpetrators with moderately low positive parenting (MLPP), 100% of youth in this group (n = 88) were rated as having no depression. There were no youth rated by parents as non-bully perpetrators and having mild or moderate-tosevere depression. As for bully perpetrators with moderately low positive parenting (MLPP), nearly 97% of youth in this group (n = 412) were rated as having no depression, 1.65% (n = 7)had mild depression and 1.41% (n = 6) had moderate-to-severe depression. Lastly, 89.27% of non-bully perpetrators with low positive parenting (LPP) did not have depression, whereas 4.72% (n = 11) and 6% (n = 14) were found to have mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Youth identified as bully perpetrators with LPP were found to have higher frequencies of depression than non-bully perpetrators with LPP, however as with youth with MHPP, cell counts were much smaller. Most bully perpetrators with LPP did not have depression (60%, n = 12), whereas 10% (n = 2) had mild depression and 30% (n = 6) had moderate-tosevere depression.

Bullied and Positive Parenting. Among non-victim youth whose parents rated themselves having HPP, 99% (n = 7,720) were identified as having no depression, 0.68% (n = 53) had mild depression, and 0.24% (n = 19) had moderate-to-severe depression. Victims with HPP had higher slightly rates of depression, 97.37% (n = 14,160) of youth were found to have no

depression, 1.52% (n = 221) had mild depression, and 1.11% (n = 162) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among non-victim youth with MHPP, 87.83% (n = 4,387) were found to have no depression, 5.23% (n = 261) had mild depression, and 6.95% (n = 347) had moderate-to-severe depression. In contrast, victims with MHPP had higher rates of depression, however cell counts were much smaller. 66.11% (n = 158) of victims with MHPP were found to have no depression, about 13% (n = 31) had mild depression, and nearly 21% (n = 50) had moderate-to-severe depression. Among non-victims with MLPP, 97% of youth in this group (n = 2,984) were rated as not having depression, 1.82% (n = 56) were reported to have mild depression and 1.11% (n =34) with moderate-to-severe depression. Victims with MLPP had both higher cell counts and rates of depression than their non-bullied MLPP peers. Specifically, about 94.26% (n = 6,520) had no depression, 3.40% (n = 235) had mild depression and 2.34% (n = 162) had moderate-tosevere depression. Among youth with LPP, victims had higher rates of depression than nonvictim, however far fewer youth were identified as being bullied and depressed in this positive parenting group. Nearly 83% (n = 1,875) of non-victims with LPP were found to not have depression, whereas 8.79% (n = 8) were found to have mild depression and 9.12% (n = 206) were found to have moderate-to-severe depression. In contrast, while most victims with LPP did not have depression (64.84%, n = 59), nearly 9% (n = 8) were rated a having mild depression and 26.37% (n = 24) with moderate-to-severe depression.

Bully-Victims and Positive Parenting. Among youth not identified as a bully or a victim and whose parents rated their parenting as HPP, most (99.18%, n = 6,615) were found to have no depression, while 0.60 (n = 40) and 2.29% (n = 168) were identified as having mild and moderate-to-severe depression, respectively. Youth with some bullying involvement were found to have higher rates of depression with 98.21% (n = 9,792) identified has having no depression,

1% (n = 106) were identified to have mild depression and 0.72% (n = 72) were rated as having moderate-to-severe depression. Bully-victims with HPP exhibited even higher frequencies of depression with 93% (n = 2,131) rated has not having depression, 3.19% (n = 73) having mild depression, and nearly 3.76% (n = 86) with moderate-to-severe depression. Among youth with MHPP, 75.71% (n = 53) of youth without bullying engagement did not have depression, while 8.57% (n = 6) had mild depression and 15.71% (n = 11) had moderate-to-severe depression. Of those with some bullying behavior and MHPP, 97% did not have depression, while 1.77% (n =56) had mild depression and 1.08% (n = 34) had moderate-to-mild depression. Bully-victim youth with MHPP had higher frequencies of depression than other MHPP bullying groups with 94% (n = 6,932) without depression, 3.30% (n = 242) with mild depression, and 2.29% (n = 168) with moderate-to-severe depression. Among youth not engaged in bullying with MLPP, 83.55% (n = 2,083) did not have depression, 7.62% (n = 190) had mild depression, and 9% (n = 220) had moderate-to-severe depression. Most youth with MLPP and some bullying involvement were reported as having no depression (63.96%, n = 71), 9% (n = 10) were mildly depressed, and 27% (n = 30) were moderately-to-severely depressed. Bully-victim youth with MLPP were also mostly not depressed (98.34%, n = 948), with 1.24% (n = 12) mildly depressed and 0.41% (n = 12) 4) moderately-to-severely depressed. Lastly, among youth with LPP, those uninvolved in bullying were mostly not depressed (95.35%, n = 3,815), 2.65% (n = 106) were mildly depressed, and 2% (n = 80) were moderately-to-severely depressed. Nearly 83% (n = 1,997) of youth with some involvement and LPP were not depressed, 7.26% (n = 175) were mildly depressed, and almost 10% (n = 240) were moderately-to-severely depressed. Among identified bully-victims whose parents had LPP, 63.19% (n = 91) were not depressed, nearly 16% (n = 23) were mildly depressed, and 20.83% were moderately-to-severely depressed (n = 30).

Hypothesis 3.2 Descriptive Data and Cell Counts. Table A4 presents all descriptive population data for variables in Aim 3, hypothesis 2, specifically cases of youth with bully involvement (bully perpetrator, bullied, bully-victim), ADHD (yes/no), positive parenting groups (HPP, MHPP, MLPP, and LPP), and depression (yes/no).

Bully Perpetrators, ADHD, Positive Parenting and Depression. All non-bully perpetration frequency data is presented in Table A4, including individuals not identified as bully perpetrations, however only bully perpetrator (yes) data was used for subsequent analyses, therefore only bully perpetrators (yes) data will be presented in the text below. Among youth with bully perpetration, HPP, and no ADHD, 100% (n = 79) of youth in this group were identified as not having depression. Similarly, among bully perpetrators with HPP and ADHD, 100% (n = 8) of youth in this group were identified as not having depression. Given the lack of variability in depression as the outcome variable, Stata dropped these two groups from the subsequent multinomial logistic regression analyses. Among youth with reported bully perpetration, MHPP, and no ADHD, most youth were identified as not having depression (97%, n = 363) while 2.94% (n = 11) were found to have depression. Among youth with reported bully perpetration, MHPP, and ADHD, almost 96% (n = 45) of the subgroup did not have depression compared to 4.26% (n = 2) with depression. Of bully perpetration youth with MLPP and no ADHD, most were identified has non-depressed (90.96%, n = 151) whereas 9% (n = 15) were identified as having depression. Those with bully perpetration, MLPP, and ADHD were mostly non-depressed (85.94%, n = 55) compared to the remaining 14% (n = 9) with depression. Bully perpetrators with LPP and no ADHD were mostly non-depression (77.78%, n = 7) with only two youth identified as depression (22.22%). Very few youths were identified as bully perpetrators

with LPP and ADHD, specifically four youth in this group were identified as not being depressed (40%) and six youth were identified as depressed (60%).

Bullied, ADHD, Positive parenting and Depression. All non-victim frequency data is presented in Table A4. As in bully perpetration group, only victim data were used for subsequent analyses, therefore only victim data will be presented in the text below. Among bullied, HPP, and no ADHD, 97.55% (n = 2,750) of youth in this group were identified as not having depression whereas 2.45% (n = 69) were reported to have depression. Victims with HPP and ADHD were mostly found not to have depression (91.59%, n = 207) compared to 8.41% (n = 19) with depression. Among victims with MHPP and no ADHD, 95.64% (n = 5,738) were found to not have depression and 4.46% (n = 268) were identified has having depression. Most victims with MHPP and ADHD did not have depression (85.22% n = 738) compared to the remaining 14.78% (n = 128) with depression. Only 208 (12.55%) of victims with no ADHD and MLPP reported having depression compared to the 87.45% (n = 1,449) with depression. Of victims with ADHD and MLPP, 30.14% (n = 173) had depression and nearly 69.86% (n = 401) did not. Among victims with LPP and no ADHD, about 34% were rated has having depression in contrast to 66% not having depression. Victims with LPP and ADHD were mostly identified as not having depression (63.16%, n = 24) compared to nearly 36.84% (n = 14) with depression.

Bully-Victim, ADHD, Positive parenting and Depression. All non-bully-victim youth frequency data is presented in Table A4. As in bully perpetration and bullied group, only bully-victim (yes) data was used for subsequent analyses, therefore only bully-victim data will be presented in the text below. Bully-victim youth with HPP and no ADHD were mostly identified as non-depressed (98.43%, n = 877) and only 14 youth (1.57%) were identified as being depressed. 96.83% (n = 61) of bully-victim youth with HPP and ADHD were identified as being

depressed, compared to only two (3.17%) bully-victim youth HPP and ADHD having depression. Among bully-victim youth with MHPP and no ADHD, 96.66% (n = 3,303) were identified as not depression compared to 114 (3.34%) bully-victim youth with MHPP, no ADHD, and depression. Far fewer youth were identified as being a bully-victim with MHPP and ADHD, however 87.90% (n = 484) were identified as not being depressed compared to 12.79% (n = 71) with depression. Among bully-victim youth with MLPP and no ADHD, 87.9% were identified as not depression and 1210% (n = 199) as depressed. Most bully-victim youth with MLPP and ADHD did not have depression (71.45%, n = 538) compared to 28.55% (n = 215) who were identified as being depression. Few youths were identified as bully-victims with LPP overall. However, among those without ADHD, around 71.83% (n = 51) were identified as being not depressed compared to 28.55% (n = 20) with depression. Similarly, among bully-victims with LPP and ADHD, 54.17% (n = 39) were identified as not depressed and nearly 45.83% (n =33) were identified as being depressed.

	No Depression	Mild	Moderate to	
		Depression	Severe	Total
	N (%)		Depression	
		N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Bully Perpetration				
Never	30,806 (95.83)	718 (2.23)	623 (1.94)	32,147 (100)
Infrequent bully perpetration	7,392 (92.04)	306 (3.81)	333 (4.15)	8,031 (100)
Frequent bully perpetration	349 (79.32)	35 (7.95)	56 (12.73)	440 (100)
Victim				
Never	19,845 (97.70)	254 (1.25)	214 (1.05)	20,313 (100)
Infrequent victim	17,000 (93.61)	628 (3.46)	533 (2.93)	18,161 (100)
Frequent victim	1,690 (79.31)	178 (8.35)	263 (12.34)	2,131 (100)
Bully-victim				
No bullying	19,079 (97.84)	233 (1.19)	188 (.96)	19,500 (100)
Some bullying	12,339 (92.79)	505 (3.78)	459 (3.43)	13,363 (100)
Bully-victim only	6,983 (91.11)	321 (4.19)	360 (4.70)	7,664 (100)

Aim 2, Hypothesis 1, Frequencies of Bully Involvement Frequency and Depression Severity

	No Depression	Mild Depression	Moderate to Severe Doprossion	Total
	N (%)	N(%)	N(%)	N (%)
Bully Perpetration				
& ADHD No bully perpetration & No ADHD	28,041 (96.95)	483 (1.67)	399 (1.38)	28,923 (100)
No bully perpetration & ADHD	6,179 (94.65)	175 (2.68)	174 (2.67)	6,528 (100)
Infrequent bully perpetration & No ADHD	523 (90.96)	22 (3.83)	30 (5.22)	575 (100)
Infrequent bully perpetration & ADHD	2,765 (85.76)	235 (7.29)	224 (6.95)	3,224 (100)
Frequent bully perpetration & No ADHD	1,150 (80.03)	128 (8.91)	159 (11.06)	1,437 (100)
Frequent bully perpetration & ADHD	120 (67.80)	21 (11.86)	36 (20.34)	177 (100)
Victim				
Not victim & No ADHD	18,180 (98.22)	189 (1.02)	140 (0.76)	18,509 (100)
Not victim & ADHD	14,719 (95.45)	388 (2.52)	313 (2.03)	15,420 (100)
Infrequent bullied & No ADHD	1,256 (84.81)	91 (6.14)	134 (9.05)	1,481 (100)
Infrequent victim & ADHD	1,475 (91.56)	63 (3.91)	73 (4.53)	1,611 (100)
Frequent victim & No ADHD	2,136 (82.57)	235 (9.08)	216 (8.35)	2,587 (100)
Frequent victim & ADHD	419 (66.09)	86 (13.56)	129 (20.35)	634 (100)
Bully-victim				
Not bully-victim & No ADHD	17,539 (98.32)	176 (.99)	124 (.70)	17,839 (100)

Aim 2, Hypothesis 2, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, ADHD, and Depression Severity

Some bulling & No5,772 (94.22)177 (2.89)177 (2.89)6,126 (100)ADHDSome bullying & ADHD1,358 (91.94)56 (3.79)63 (4.27)1,477 (100)Yes Bully-victim & No ADHD1,511 (80.89)186 (9.96)171 (9.15)1,868 (100)Yes Bully-victim & ADHD1,152 (78.00)142 (9.61)183 (12.39)1,477 (100)	Not bully-victim & ADHD	10,780 (94.74)	314 (2.76)	284 (2.50)	11,378 (100)
Some bullying & ADHD1,358 (91.94)56 (3.79)63 (4.27)1,477 (100)Yes Bully-victim & No ADHD1,511 (80.89)186 (9.96)171 (9.15)1,868 (100)Yes Bully-victim & ADHD1,152 (78.00)142 (9.61)183 (12.39)1,477 (100)	Some bulling & No ADHD	5,772 (94.22)	177 (2.89)	177 (2.89)	6,126 (100)
Yes Bully-victim &1,511 (80.89)186 (9.96)171 (9.15)1,868 (100)No ADHDYes Bully-victim &1,152 (78.00)142 (9.61)183 (12.39)1,477 (100)ADHD	Some bullying & ADHD	1,358 (91.94)	56 (3.79)	63 (4.27)	1,477 (100)
Yes Bully-victim & 1,152 (78.00) 142 (9.61) 183 (12.39) 1,477 (100) ADHD	Yes Bully-victim & No ADHD	1,511 (80.89)	186 (9.96)	171 (9.15)	1,868 (100)
	Yes Bully-victim & ADHD	1,152 (78.00)	142 (9.61)	183 (12.39)	1,477 (100)

Aim 3, Hypothesis 1, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, and Depression Severity

	No Depression	Mild Depression	Moderate to Severe	Total
	N(%)	N (%)	Depression	N (%)
Bully Perpetration & Positive Parenting Groups				
No bully perpetration & HPP	10,616 (98.50)	109 (1.01)	53 (.49)	10,778 (100)
Bully perpetration & HPP	20,268 (96.35)	449 (2.13)	318 (1.51)	21,035 (100)
No bully perpetration & MHPP	6,054 (86.21)	429 (6.11)	539 (7.68)	7,022 (100)
Bully perpetration & MHPP	205 (66.13)	37 (11.94)	68 (21.94)	310 (100)
No bully perpetration & MLPP	88 (100)	0 (.0)	0 (.0)	88 (100)
Bully perpetration & MLPP	412 (96.94)	7 (1.65)	6 (1.41)	425 (100)
No bully perpetration & LPP	208 (89.27)	11 (4.72)	14 (6.01)	233 (100)
Bully perpetration & LPP	12 (60.00)	2 (10.00)	6 (30.00)	20 (100)
Victim & Positive Parenting Groups				
Not victim & HPP	7,720 (99.08)	53 (.68)	19 (.24)	7,792 (100)
Victim & HPP	14,160 (97.37)	221 (1.52)	162 (1.11)	14,543 (100)
Not victim & MHPP	4,387 (87.83)	261 (5.23)	347 (6.95)	4,995 (100)
Victim & MHPP	158 (66.11)	31 (12.97)	50 (20.92)	239 (100)
Not victim & MLPP	2,984 (97.07)	56 (1.82)	34 1.11)	3,074 (100)
Victim & MLPP	6,520 (94.26)	235 (3.40)	162 (2.34)	6,917 (100)
Not victim & LPP	1,875 (82.96)	179 (7.92)	206 (9.12)	2,260 100)
Victim & LPP	59 (64.84)	8 (8.79)	24 (26.37)	91 (100)
Bully-victim & Positive Pare Groups	nting,			
Not a bully-victim & HPP	6,615 (99.18)	40 (.60)	15 (.22)	6,670 (100)
Some bullying & HPP	9,792 (98.21)	106 (1.06)	72 (.72)	9,970 (100)

Bully-victim & HPP	2,131 (93.06)	73 (3.19)	86 (3.76)	2,290 (100)
Not a bully-victim & MHPP	53 (75.71)	6 (8.57)	11 (15.71)	70 (100)
Some bullying & MHPP	3,072 (97.15)	56 (1.77)	34 (1.08)	3,162 (100)
Bully-victim & MHPP	6,932 (94.42)	242 (3.30)	168 (2.29)	7,342 (100)
Not a bully-victim & MLPP	2,083 (83.55)	190 (7.62)	220 (8.82)	2,493 (100)
Some bullying & MLPP	71 (63.96)	10 (9.01)	30 (27.03)	111 (100)
Bully-victim & MLPP	948 (98.34)	12 (1.24)	4 (.41)	964 (100)
No bully-victim & LPP	3,815 (95.35)	106 (2.65)	80 (2.00)	4,001 (100)
Some bullying & LPP	1,997 (82.79)	175 (7.26)	240 (9.95)	2,414 (100)
Bully-victim & LPP	91 (63.19)	23 (15.97)	30 (20.83)	144 (100)

Aim 3, Hypothesis 2, Frequencies of Bully Involvement, Positive Parenting, ADHD, and Depression (Yes/No)

	Depression					
	No	Yes	Total			
	N (%)	N(%)	N(%)			
Bully Perpetration, Positive Parenting, & ADHD groups	<u>_</u>					
Bully perpetration, HPP, & No ADHD	79 (100)	0 (0)	79 (100)			
Bully perpetration, HPP, & ADHD	8 (100)	0 (0)	8 (100)			
Bully perpetration, MHPP, & No ADHD	363 (97.06)	11 (2.94)	374 (100)			
Bully perpetration, MHPP, & ADHD	45 (95.74)	2 (4.26)	47 (100)			
Bully perpetration & MLPP, & No ADHD	151 (90.96)	15 (9.04)	166 (100)			
Bully perpetration & MLPP, & ADHD	55 (85.94)	9 (14.06)	64 (100)			
Bully perpetration & LPP, & No ADHD	7 (77.78)	2 (22.22)	9 (100)			
Bully perpetration & LPP, & ADHD	4 (40)	6 (60)	10 (100)			
Victim, Positive Parenting, & ADHD groups						
Victim, HPP, & No ADHD	2,750 (97.55)	69 (2.45)	2,819 (100)			
Victim, HPP, & ADHD	207 (91.59)	19 (8.41)	226 (100)			
Victim, MHPP, & No ADHD	5,738 (95.64)	268 (4.46)	6,006 (100)			
Victim, MHPP, & ADHD	738 (85.22)	128 (14.78)	866 (100)			
Victim & MLPP, & No ADHD	1,449 (87.45)	208 (12.55)	1,657 (100)			
Victim & MLPP, & ADHD	401 (69.86)	173 (30.14)	574 (100)			
Victim & LPP, & No ADHD	35 (66.04)	18 (33.96)	53 (100)			
Victim & LPP, & ADHD	24 (63.16)	14 (36.84)	38 (100)			
Bully-victim, Positive Parenting, & ADHD groups						
No bully-victim, HPP, & No ADHD	6,212 (99.30)	44 (.70)	6,256 (100)			
No bully-victim, HPP, & ADHD	330 (97.06)	10 (2.94)	340 (100)			
No bully-victim, MHPP, & No ADHD	9,056 (98.58)	130 (1.42)	9,186 (100)			

No bully-victim, MHPP, & ADHD	661 (93.36)	47 (6.64)	708 (100)
No bully-victim, MLPP, & No ADHD	1,795 (94.62)	102 (5.38)	1,897 (100)
No bully-victim, MLPP, & ADHD	313 (84.59)	57 (15.41)	370 (100)
No bully-victim, LPP & No ADHD	36 (72)	14 (28)	50 (100)
No bully-victim & LPP, & ADHD	16 (84.21)	3 (17.79)	19 (100)
Some bullying, HPP, & No ADHD	2,829 (97.62)	69 (2.38)	2,898 (100)
Some bullying, HPP, & ADHD	215 (91.88)	19 (8.12)	234 (100)
Some bullying, MHPP, & No ADHD	6,101 (95.63)	279 (4.37)	6,380 (100)
Some bullying, MHPP, & ADHD	783 (85.76)	130 (14.24)	913 (100)
Some bullying, MLPP, & No ADHD	1,600 (87.77)	223 (12.23)	1,823 (100)
Some bullying, MLPP, & ADHD	456 (71.47)	182 (28.53)	638 (100)
Some bullying, LPP & No ADHD	42 (67.74)	20 (32.26)	62 (100)
Some bullying, LPP, & ADHD	28 (58.33)	20 (41.67)	48 (100)
Bully-victim, HPP & No ADHD	877 (98.43)	14 (1.57)	891 (100)
Bully-victim, HPP, & ADHD	61 (96.83)	2 (3.17)	63 (100)
Bully-victim, MHPP, & No ADHD	3,303 (96.66)	114 (3.34)	3,417 (100)
Bully-victim, MHPP, & ADHD	484 (87.90)	71 (12.79)	555 (100)
Bully-victim, MLPP, & No ADHD	1,446 (87.90)	199 (12.10)	1,645 (100)
Bully-victim, MLPP, & ADHD	538 (71.45)	215 (28.55)	753 (100)
Bully-victim, LPP, & No ADHD	51 (71.83)	20 (28.17)	71 (100)
Bully-victim, LPP, & ADHD	39 (54.17)	33 (45.83)	72 (100)
- Abidin, R. R. (1992). The Determinants of Parenting Behavior. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 21(4), 407-412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp2104_12</u>
- Achenbach, T. M., McConaughy, S. H., & Howell, C. T. (1987). Child/adolescent behavioral and emotional problems: Implications of cross-informant correlations for situational specificity. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(2), 213–232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.101.2.213
- APA. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. AmericanPsychiatric Association *Washington*, DC.
- Angold A., Costello, E.J., & Erkanli, A. (1999). Co-morbidity. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 40, 57–87.
- Arnett, A. B., Pennington, B. F., Willcutt, E. G., DeFries, J. C., & Olson, R. K. (2015). Sex differences in ADHD symptom severity. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 56(6), 632-639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12337</u>
- Barkley, R. A. (1997). Behavioral inhibition, sustained attention, and executive functions: constructing a unifying theory of ADHD. *Psychol Bull*, 121(1), 65-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.121.1.65</u>
- Barkley, R. A. (2002). Psychosocial treatments for attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *63 Suppl 12*, 36-43.
- Bauermeister, J. J., Matos, M., Reina, G., Salas, C. C., Martínez, J. V., Cumba, E., & Barkley, R.
 A. (2005). Comparison of the DSM-IV combined and inattentive types of ADHD in a school-based sample of Latino/Hispanic children. *Journal of Child Psychology and*

Psychiatry, *46*(2), 166-179. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.2004.00343.x

- Bauermeister, J. J., Shrout, P. E., Ramírez, R., Bravo, M., Alegría, M., Martínez-Taboas, A., . . .
 Canino, G. (2007). ADHD correlates, comorbidity, and impairment in community and treated samples of children and adolescents. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, *35*(6), 883-898.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9141-4
- Beck, A. T., & Young, J. E. (1985). Depression
- Becker, S. P., Mehari, K. R., Langberg, J. M., & Evans, S. W. (2017). Rates of peer victimization in young adolescents with ADHD and associations with internalizing symptoms and self-esteem. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 26(2), 201-214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0881-y
- Belsky, J. (1984). The determinants of parenting: A process model. In (pp. 83-96): Blackwell Publishing.
- Besser, A., & Priel, B. (2003). A Multisource Approach to Self-Critical Vulnerability to Depression: The Moderating Role of Attachment*. *Journal of Personality*, 71(4), 515-555. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.7104002
- Biederman, J., Ball, S. W., Monuteaux, M. C., Mick, E., Spencer, T. J., Mc, C. M., . . . Faraone,
 S. V. (2008). New insights into the comorbidity between ADHD and major depression in adolescent and young adult females. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 47(4), 426-434. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31816429d3</u>
- Biederman, J., Monuteaux, M. C., Mick, E., Spencer, T., Wilens, T. E., Silva, J. M., . . . Faraone,
 S. V. (2006). Young adult outcome of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a controlled 10-year follow-up study. *Psychol Med*, *36*(2), 167-179.

- Biederman, J., Monuteaux, M. C., Spencer, T., Wilens, T. E., & Faraone, S. V. (2009). Do stimulants protect against psychiatric disorders in youth with ADHD? A 10-year followup study. *Pediatrics*, 124(1), 71-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-3347</u>
- Björkqvist, K., Österman, K., & Kaukianen, A. (1992). The development of direct and indirect aggressive strategies in males and females. In (pp. 51-64).
- Bong, S. H., Kim, K. M., Seol, K. H., & Kim, J. W. (2021). Bullying perpetration and victimization in elementary school students diagnosed with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, *62*, 102729.
 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2021.102729
- Bornstein, M. H., Cote, L. R., Haynes, O. M., Hahn, C.-S., & Park, Y. (2010). Parenting knowledge: experiential and sociodemographic factors in European American mothers of young children. *Developmental psychology*, 46(6), 1677-1693. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020677
- Boyer, B. E., Geurts, H. M., Prins, J. M., & Van der Oord, S. (2015) Two novel CBTs for adolescents with ADHD: The value of planning skills. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 24(9), 1075-1090. doi: 10.1007/s00787/s00787-014-0661-5.
- Breaux, R. P., & Harvey, E. A. (2019). *A longitudinal study of the relation between family functioning and preschool ADHD symptoms* [doi:10.1080/15374416.2018.1437737].
- Brunstein Klomek, A., Marrocco, F., Kleinman, M., Schonfeld, I. S., & Gould, M. S. (2007).
 Bullying, depression, and suicidality in adolescents. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 46(1), 40-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.chi.0000242237.84925.18</u>
- Buitelaar, J., & Medori, R. (2010). Treating attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder beyond symptom control alone in children and adolescents: a review of the potential benefits of

long-acting stimulants. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, *19*(4), 325-340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-009-0056-1

- Bussing, R., Mason, D. M., Bell, L., Porter, P., & Garvan, C. (2010). Adolescent outcomes of childhood attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in a diverse community sample
 [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramural]. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 49(6), 595-605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2010.03.006</u>
- Casper, D. M., & Card, N. A. (2017). Overt and Relational Victimization: A Meta-Analytic
 Review of Their Overlap and Associations With Social-Psychological Adjustment. *Child Dev*, 88(2), 466-483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12621</u>
- Chang, Z., D'Onofrio, B. M., Quinn, P. D., Lichtenstein, P., & Larsson, H. (2016). Medication for Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Risk for Depression: A Nationwide Longitudinal Cohort Study. *Biological psychiatry*, 80(12), 916–922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.02.018
- Chen, E., & Miller, G. E. (2013). Socioeconomic status and health: mediating and moderating factors. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol*, 9, 723-749. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-</u> 050212-185634
- Chronis-Tuscano, A., Molina, B. S., Pelham, W. E., Applegate, B., Dahlke, A., Overmyer, M., & Lahey, B. B. (2010). Very early predictors of adolescent depression and suicide attempts in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 67(10), 1044-1051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.127</u>
- Clark, K. E., & Ladd, G. W. (2000). Connectedness and autonomy support in parent–child relationships: Links to children's socioemotional orientation and peer relationships. *Developmental Psychology*, 36(4), 485-498. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.4.485</u>

- Clarke, J. N. (2017). A Study of the Portrayal of Bullying in Magazines for Parents: It is Everywhere and it is Growing. *Children & Society*, 31(6), 441-451. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12213</u>
- Coker, T. R., Elliott, M. N., Toomey, S. L., Schwebel, D. C., Cuccaro, P., Tortolero Emery, S., . .
 Schuster, M. A. (2016). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in ADHD Diagnosis and Treatment. *Pediatrics*, *138*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-0407</u>
- Cole, J., Ball, H. A., Martin, N. C., Scourfield, J., & McGuffin, P. (2009). Genetic overlap between measures of hyperactivity/inattention and mood in children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1094-1101. https://doi.org/10.1097/chi.0b013e3181b7666e
- Collins, N. L., Cooper, L. M., Albino, A., & Allard, L. (2002). Psychosocial vulnerability from adolescence to adulthood: a prospective study of attachment style differences in relationship functioning and partner choice. *J Pers*, 70(6), 965-1008. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.05029
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., & Benson, M. A. (2009). *Coping and emotion regulation: Implications for understanding depression during adolescence*
- Conger, R. D., Conger, K. J., Elder, G. H., Jr., Lorenz, F. O., Simons, R. L., & Whitbeck, L. B. (1992). A family process model of economic hardship and adjustment of early adolescent boys. *Child Dev*, 63(3), 526-541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1992.tb01644.x</u>
- Copeland, W. E., Wolke, D., Angold, A., & Costello, E. J. (2013). Adult Psychiatric Outcomes of Bullying and Being Bullied by Peers in Childhood and Adolescence. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(4), 419-426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504</u>

- Costello, J. E., Erkanli, A., & Angold, A. (2006). Is there an epidemic of child or adolescent depression? *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1263-1271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01682.x</u>
- Craig, W., Harel-Fisch, Y., Fogel-Grinvald, H., Dostaler, S., Hetland, J., Simons-Morton, B., . . . Pickett, W. (2009). A cross-national profile of bullying and victimization among adolescents in 40 countries. *Int J Public Health*, *54 Suppl 2*(Suppl 2), 216-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-009-5413-9</u>
- Crnic, K., & Ross, E. (2017). Parenting stress and parental efficacy. In Parental stress and early child development: Adaptive and maladaptive outcomes. [doi:10.1007/978-3-319-55376-4_11]. Springer International Publishing.
- Cuijpers, P., & Smit, F. (2004). Subthreshold depression as a risk indicator for major depressive disorder: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 109(5), 325-331. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00301.x
- Currie, C. (2012). Social determinants of health and well-being among young people. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) study (Vol. 6) [Book]. WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Cyranowski, J. M., Frank, E., Young, E., & Shear, M. K. (2000). Adolescent onset of the gender difference in lifetime rates of major depression: a theoretical model. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 57(1), 21-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.57.1.21</u>

Darney, C., Howcroft, G., & Stroud, L. (2013). THE IMPACT THAT BULLYING AT SCHOOL HAS ON AN INDIVIDUAL'S SELF-ESTEEM DURING YOUNG ADULTHOOD.

- deLara, E. W. (2019). Consequences of Childhood Bullying on Mental Health and Relationships for Young Adults. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(9), 2379-2389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1197-y</u>
- De Los Reyes, A., & Kazdin, A. E. (2005). Informant discrepancies in the assessment of childhood psychopathology: a critical review, theoretical framework, and recommendations for further study. *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(4), 483–509. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.131.4.483
- Diamantopoulou, S., Henricsson, L., & Rydell, A.-M. (2005). ADHD symptoms and peer relations of children in a community sample: Examining associated problems, selfperceptions, and gender differences. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 29(5), 388-398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01650250500172756</u>
- Dupaul, G. J., McGoey, K. E., Eckert, T. L., & Vanbrakle, J. (2001). Preschool Children With Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Impairments in Behavioral, Social, and School Functioning. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40(5), 508-515. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200105000-00009</u>
- Dvorsky, M. R., & Langberg, J. M. (2016). A Review of Factors that Promote Resilience in Youth with ADHD and ADHD Symptoms. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev*, 19(4), 368-391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-016-0216-z</u>
- Ebrahimi, L., Amiri, M., Mohamadlou, M., & Rezapur, R. (2017). Attachment Styles, Parenting Styles, and Depression. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 15(5), 1064-1068. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-017-9770-y</u>

- Efron, D., Wijaya, M., Hazell, P., & Sciberras, E. (2021). Peer Victimization in Children With ADHD: A Community-Based Longitudinal Study. *J Atten Disord*, *25*(3), 291-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054718796287</u>
- Espelage, D. L., & Swearer, S. M. (2003). Research on School Bullying and Victimization: What Have We Learned and Where Do We Go From Here? *School Psychology Review*, *32*(3), 365-383.
- Fergusson, D. M., Horwood, L. J., Ridder, E. M., & Beautrais, A. L. (2005). Subthreshold depression in adolescence and mental health outcomes in adulthood. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 62(1), 66-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.1.66</u>
- Fiorilli, C., Capitello, T. G., Barni, D., Buonomo, I., & Gentile, S. (2010). Predicting adolescent depression: The interrelated roles of self-esteem and interpersonal stressors. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 565. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00565
- Goldweber, A., Waasdorp, T. E., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2013). Examining Associations Between Race, Urbanicity, and Patterns of Bullying Involvement. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 42(2), 206-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9843-y</u>
- Granic, I., & Patterson, G. R. (2006). Toward a comprehensive model of antisocial development: a dynamic systems approach. *Psychol Rev*, *113*(1), 101-131. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.113.1.101
- Gulliford, H., Deans, J., Frydenberg, E., & Liang, R. (2015). Teaching Coping Skills in the Context of Positive Parenting Within a Preschool Setting. *Australian Psychologist*, 50(3), 219-231. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12121</u>

- Hall, W. J., & Chapman, M. V. (2018). The Role of School Context in Implementing a Statewide Anti-Bullying Policy and Protecting Students. *Educ Policy (Los Altos Calif)*, 32(4), 507-539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904816637689</u>
- Hassan, G., Eissa, A., Hewedi, D., Hegazy, D., & Essam, A. (2013). Children with attention deficit-hyperactivity disorder and comorbid depression: A descriptive study. *Middle East Current Psychiatry*, 20, 140-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.XME.0000430428.98481.45</u>
- Heath, C. L., Curtis, D. F., Fan, W., & McPherson, R. (2015). The Association Between Parenting Stress, Parenting Self-Efficacy, and the Clinical Significance of Child ADHD Symptom Change Following Behavior Therapy. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 46(1), 118-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-014-0458-2</u>
- Hipwell, A., Keenan, K., Kasza, K., Loeber, R., Stouthamer-Loeber, M., & Bean, T. (2008).
 Reciprocal influences between girls' conduct problems and depression, and parental punishment and warmth: a six year prospective analysis. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, *36*(5), 663-677. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9206-4</u>
- Holmberg, K., & Hjern, A. (2008). Bullying and attention-deficit– hyperactivity disorder in 10year-olds in a Swedish community. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 50(2), 134-138. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8749.2007.02019.x</u>
- Hoza, B. (2007). Peer Functioning in Children With ADHD. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 32(6), 655-663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsm024</u>
- Hoza, B., Gerdes, A. C., Mrug, S., Hinshaw, S. P., Bukowski, W. M., Gold, J. A., . . . Wigal, T.
 (2005). Peer-assessed outcomes in the multimodal treatment study of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol*, *34*(1), 74-86.

- Hu, H. F., Chou, W. J., & Yen, C. F. (2016). Anxiety and depression among adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: The roles of behavioral temperamental traits, comorbid autism spectrum disorder, and bullying involvement. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*, 32(2), 103-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kjms.2016.01.002
- Humphreys, K. L., Katz, S. J., Lee, S. S., Hammen, C., Brennan, P. A., & Najman, J. M. (2013).
 The association of ADHD and depression: mediation by peer problems and parent-child difficulties in two complementary samples. *J Abnorm Psychol*, *122*(3), 854-867.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033895
- Hurt, E. A., Hoza, B., & Pelham, W. E., Jr. (2007). Parenting, family loneliness, and peer functioning in boys with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 35(4), 543-555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9111-x</u>
- Jackson, V., Chou, S., & Browne, K. (2017). Protective Factors Against Child Victimization in the School and Community: An Exploratory Systematic Review of Longitudinal Predictors and Interacting Variables. *Trauma Violence Abuse*, 18(3), 303-321. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015611675
- Johnco, C., & Rapee, R. M. (2018). Depression literacy and stigma influence how parents perceive and respond to adolescent depressive symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 241, 599–607. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.062
- Joyner, M. J., & Green, D. J. (2009). Exercise protects the cardiovascular system: effects beyond traditional risk factors. *The Journal of Physiology*, 587(23), 5551-5558. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2009.179432</u>

- Kaltiala-Heino, R. & Fröjd, S. (2011). Correlation between bullying and clinical depression in adolescent patients. *Adolescent Health, Medicine and Therapeutics, 2*, 37-44. doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S11554
- Kaiser, N. M., McBurnett, K., & Pfiffner, L. J. (2011). Child ADHD severity and positive and negative parenting as predictors of child social functioning: evaluation of three theoretical models. *J Atten Disord*, 15(3), 193-203.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054709356171

- Kawabata, Y., Tseng, W.-L., & Gau, S. S.-F. (2012). Symptoms of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and social and school adjustment: The moderating roles of age and parenting. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 40(2), 177-188.
- Kim, J., Chan, Y. F., McCauley, E., & Stoep, A. V. (2016). Parent-Child Discrepancies in Reporting of Child Depression in Ethnic Groups. *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 12(6), 374–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.01.018
- Kim, Y. S., Boyce, W. T., Koh, Y.-J., & Leventhal, B. L. (2009). Time Trends, Trajectories, and Demographic Predictors of Bullying: A Prospective Study in Korean Adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(4), 360-367.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.02.005

- Kim, Y. S., Koh, Y.-J., & Leventhal, B. (2005). School bullying and suicidal risk in Korean middle school students. *Pediatrics*, 115(2), 357-363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2004-0902</u>
- Kopala-Sibley, D. C., Jelinek, C., Kessel, E. M., Frost, A., Allmann, A. E. S., & Klein, D. N.(2017). Parental depressive history, parenting styles, and child psychopathology over 6 years: The contribution of each parent's depressive history to the other's parenting styles.

Development and Psychopathology, 29(4), 1469-1482.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417000396

Korelitz, K. E., & Garber, J. (2016). Congruence of Parents' and Children's Perceptions of Parenting: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 45(10), 1973–1995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0524-0

Kowalski, R. M., & Fedina, C. (2011). Cyber bullying in ADHD and Asperger Syndrome populations. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(3), 1201-1208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2011.01.007

- Kumpulainen, K., Räsänen, E., & Puura,K. (2001). Psychiatric disorders and the use of mental health services among children involved in bullying. *Aggressive Behavior*, 27(2), 102– 110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.3</u>
- Larrañaga, E., Navaro, R., & Yubero, S. (2018). Socio-cognitive and emotional factors on perpetration of cyberbullying. *Media Education Research Journal, 26*(56), 19-28.
- Lereya, S. T., Samara, M., & Wolke, D. (2013). Parenting behavior and the risk of becoming a victim and a bully/victim: A meta-analysis study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(12), 1091-1108. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.001</u>
- Lifford, K. J., Harold, G. T., & Thapar, A. (2008). Parent–Child Relationships and ADHD Symptoms: A Longitudinal Analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 36(2), 285-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9177-5</u>
- Malhotra, S., & Sahoo, S. (2018). Antecedents of depression in children and adolescents. *Industrial Psychiatry Journal*, 27(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.4103/ipj.ipj_29_17
- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., Baweja, R., & Mahr, F. (2015). Maternal Ratings of Bullying and Victimization: Differences in Frequencies between Psychiatric Diagnoses in a Large

Sample of Children (.). Psychol Rep, 116(3), 710-722.

https://doi.org/10.2466/16.PR0.116k30w8

- McCoy, K., Cummings, E., & Davies, P. (2008). Constructive and destructive marital conflict, emotional security and children's prosocial behavior. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, 50, 270-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> <u>7610.2008.01945.x</u>
- McGuinness, T. M., Dyer, J. G., & Wade, E. H. (2012). Gender differences in adolescent depression. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv, 50(12), 17-20. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20121107-04
- McLaughlin, D. P., & Harrison, C. A. (2006). Parenting Practices of Mothers of Children with ADHD: The Role of Maternal and Child Factors. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, *11*(2), 82-88. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-3588.2005.00382.x</u>
- McQuade, J. D., Breslend, N. L., & Groff, D. (2018). Experiences of physical and relational victimization in children with ADHD: The role of social problems and aggression. *Aggress Behav*, 44(4), 416-425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21762</u>
- McQuade, J. D., & Hoza, B. (2015). Peer relationships of children with ADHD. In *Attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment, 4th ed.* (pp. 210-222). The Guilford Press.
- Meinzer, M., Hill, R., Pettit, J., & Nichols-Lopez, K. (2015). ADHD symptoms predict depressive symptoms in college students via low parental support. *J Psychopathol Behav Assess*, 37, 247-255.
- Meinzer, M. C., Lewinsohn, P. M., Pettit, J. W., Seeley, J. R., Gau, J. M., Chronis-Tuscano, A.,& Waxmonsky, J. G. (2013). Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adolescence

predicts onset of major depressive disorder through early adulthood. *Depress Anxiety*, 30(6), 546-553. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22082</u>

Meinzer, M. C., Pettit, J. W., & Viswesvaran, C. (2014). The co-occurrence of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and unipolar depression in children and adolescents: a meta-analytic review. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 34(8), 595-607.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2014.10.002

- Meinzer, M. C., Pettit, J. W., Waxmonsky, J. G., Gnagy, E., Molina, B. S. G., & Pelham, W. E. (2016). Does Childhood Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) Predict Levels of Depressive Symptoms during Emerging Adulthood? *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 44(4), 787-797. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0065-0</u>
- Mikami, A. Y. (2010). The importance of friendship for youth with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, *13*(2), 181-198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-010-0067-y</u>
- Miller, J. L., & Vaillancourt, T. (2007). Relation between childhood peer victimization and adult perfectionism: are victims of indirect aggression more perfectionistic? *Aggress Behav*, 33(3), 230-241. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20183
- Modesto-Lowe, V., Danforth, J. S., & Brooks, D. (2008). ADHD: Does Parenting Style Matter? *Clinical Pediatrics*, 47(9), 865-872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0009922808319963</u>
- Mojtabai, R., Olfson, M., & Han, B. (2016). National Trends in the Prevalence and Treatment of Depression in Adolescents and Young Adults. *Pediatrics*, *138*(6), e20161878.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1878
- Molina, B. S. G., Hinshaw, S. P., Swanson, J. M., Arnold, L. E., Vitiello, B., Jensen, P. S., . . . Group, M. T. A. C. (2009). The MTA at 8 years: prospective follow-up of children

treated for combined-type ADHD in a multisite study. *Journal of the American Academy* of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 48(5), 484-500.

https://doi.org/10.1097/CHI.0b013e31819c23d0

Monopoli, W. J., Margherio, S. M., Evans, S. W., Xiang, J., Brickner, M. A., & Langberg, J. M. (2020). Risk and Protective Factors for Peer Victimization in Adolescents with ADHD. *Journal of School Violence*, 19(2), 234-247.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2019.1660181

- Morgan, P. L., Staff, J., Hillemeier, M. M., Farkas, G., & Maczuga, S. (2013). Racial and ethnic disparities in ADHD diagnosis from kindergarten to eighth grade. *Pediatrics*, *132*(1), 85-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-2390</u>
- Murray-Close, D., Hoza, B., Hinshaw, S. P., Arnold, L. E., Swanson, J., Jensen, P. S., . . . Wells, K. (2010). Developmental processes in peer problems of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in the Multimodal Treatment Study of Children With ADHD: developmental cascades and vicious cycles. *Development and psychopathology*, 22(4), 785-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579410000465</u>
- Nishina, A., Juvonen, J., & Witkow, M. R. (2005). Sticks and stones may break my bones, but names will make me feel sick: the psychosocial, somatic, and scholastic consequences of peer harassment. *J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol*, 34(1), 37-48.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3401_4

 Oldehinkel, A. J., Rosmalen, J. G. M., Veenstra, R., Dijkstra, J. K., & Ormel, J. (2007). Being admired or being liked: classroom social status and depressive problems in early adolescent girls and boys. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, *35*(3), 417-427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-007-9100-0

- Olweus, D. (1993). Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, 140 pp. *Psychology in the Schools*, 40(6), 699-700. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.10114</u>
- Ostrander, R., & Herman, K. C. (2006). Potential cognitive, parenting, and developmental mediators of the relationship between ADHD and depression. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, *74*(1), 89-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.74.1.89</u>
- Ozenne,B., Fisher, P.M., & Budtz-Jørgensen, E. (2020). Small sample corrections in Wald tests in latent variable models. *Journal of Royal Statistical Society, Series C: Applied Statistic* 69(4), 841-861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/rssc.12414</u>

Patterson, G. R. (1982). Coercive family process. Castalia Press.

- Pavuluri, M. & Birmaher, B. (2004). A practical guide to using ratings of depression and anxiety in child psychiatric practice. *Current Psychiatry Report*, 6, 108–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-004-0050-8
- Pinquart, M., & Kauser, R. (2018). Do the associations of parenting styles with behavior problems and academic achievement vary by culture? Results from a meta-analysis.
 Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol, 24(1), 75-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cdp0000149</u>
- Pliszka S. R. (1998). Comorbidity of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder with psychiatric disorder: an overview. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, *59*(7), 50–58.
- Primack, B. A., Hendricks, K. M., Longacre, M. R., Adachi-Mejia, A. M., Weiss, J. E., Titus, L. J., . . Dalton, M. A. (2012). Parental efficacy and child behavior in a community sample of children with and without attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). *ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders*, *4*(4), 189-197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12402-012-0089-z

- Putnick, D. L., Bornstein, M. H., Hendricks, C., Painter, K. M., Suwalsky, J. T. D., & Collins, W. A. (2008). Parenting stress, perceived parenting behaviors, and adolescent self-concept in European American families. *J Fam Psychol*, 22(5), 752-762.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013177
- Rajendran, K., Kruszewski, E., & Halperin, J. M. (2016). Parenting style influences bullying: a longitudinal study comparing children with and without behavioral problems. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 57(2), 188-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12433</u>

Randolph, J. J., & Dykman, B. M. (1998). Perceptions of parenting and depression-proneness in the offspring: Dysfunctional attitudes as a mediating mechanism [doi:10.1023/A:1018761229824].

Reitz, E., Deković, M., & Meijer, A. M. (2006). Relations between parenting and externalizing and internalizing problem behaviour in early adolescence: child behaviour as moderator and predictor. *J Adolesc*, 29(3), 419-436.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.08.003

- Richardson, L. P., DiGiuseppe, D., Garrison, M., & Christakis, D. A. (2003). Depression in Medicaid-Covered Youth: Differences by Race and Ethnicity. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 157(10), 984-989. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.157.10.984</u>
- Robertson, J. F., & Simons, R. L. (1989). Family Factors, Self-Esteem, and Adolescent Depression. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 51(1), 125-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/352374</u>
- Roubinov, D. S., & Boyce, W. T. (2017). Parenting and SES: relative values or enduring principles? *Current opinion in psychology*, 15, 162-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.001

- Roy, A., Hartman, C. A., Veenstra, R., & Oldehinkel, A. J. (2015). Peer dislike and victimisation in pathways from ADHD symptoms to depression. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 24(8), 887-895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-014-0633-9</u>
- Scheres, A., Milham, M. P., Knutson, B., & Castellanos, F. X. (2007). Ventral striatal hyporesponsiveness during reward anticipation in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 61(5), 720-724. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.04.042</u>
- Schoeler, T., Choi, S. W., Dudbridge, F., Baldwin, J., Duncan, L., Cecil, C. M., . . . Pingault, J. B. (2019). Multi-Polygenic Score Approach to Identifying Individual Vulnerabilities
 Associated With the Risk of Exposure to Bullying. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(7), 730-738.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0310
- Schwartz, D. (2000). Subtypes of Victims and Aggressors in Children's Peer Groups. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 28(2), 181.
- Sciberras, E., Ohan, J., & Anderson, V. (2012). Bullying and peer victimisation in adolescent girls with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev*, 43(2), 254-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-011-0264-z</u>
- Shakoor, S., Jaffee, S. R., Andreou, P., Bowes, L., Ambler, A. P., Caspi, A., Moffitt, T. E., & Arseneault, L. (2011). Mothers and children as informants of bullying victimization: results from an epidemiological cohort of children. J Abnorm Child Psychol. 2011
 Apr;39(3):379-87. doi: 10.1007/s10802-010-9463-5. PMID: 20938734; PMCID: PMC4231790.
- Shaw, M., Hodgkins, P., Caci, H., Young, S., Kahle, J., Woods, A. G., & Arnold, L. E. (2012). A systematic review and analysis of long-term outcomes in attention deficit hyperactivity

disorder: effects of treatment and non-treatment. BMC Med, 10, 99.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-10-99

Sheeber, L., Allen, N., Davis, B., & Sorensen, E. (2000). Regulation of Negative Affect During Mother–Child Problem-Solving Interactions: Adolescent Depressive Status and Family Processes. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 28(5), 467-479.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005135706799

- Shortt, A. L., & Spence, S. H. (2006). Risk and Protective Factors for Depression in Youth. *Behaviour Change*, 23(1), 1-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1375/bech.23.1.1</u>
- Shrestha, M., Lautenschleger, J., Soares, N. (2020). Non-pharmacologic management of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children and adolescents: A review. *Translational Pediatrics*, 9(1), S114-S124. doi: <u>10.21037/tp.2019.10.01</u>
- Simmons, J. A., & Antshel, K. M. (2020). Bullying and Depression in Youth with ADHD: A Systematic Review. *Child & Youth Care Forum*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-020-</u> 09586-x
- Singham, T., Viding, E., Schoeler, T., Arseneault, L., Ronald, A., Cecil, C. M., . . . Pingault, J.
 B. (2017). Concurrent and Longitudinal Contribution of Exposure to Bullying in
 Childhood to Mental Health: The Role of Vulnerability and Resilience. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 74(11), 1112-1119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2678</u>
- Sourander, A., Jensen, P., Rönning, J. A., Niemelä, S., Helenius, H., Sillanmäki, L.,
 Kumpulainen, K., Piha, J., Tamminen, T., Moilanen, I., & Almqvist, F. (2007). What is
 the early adulthood outcome of boys who bully or are bullied in childhood? The Finnish
 "From a Boy to a Man" study. *Pediatrics*, *120*(2), 397–404.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2704

- Spirch, S. E., Safren, S. A., Finkelstein, D., Remmert, J. E., & Hammerness, P. (2016). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy for ADHD in medicationtreated adolescent. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57(11), 1218-1226. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12549.
- Spriggs, A. L., Iannotti, R. J., Nansel, T. R., & Haynie, D. L. (2007). Adolescent bullying involvement and perceived family, peer and school relations: commonalities and differences across race/ethnicity. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, *41*(3), 283-293.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.04.009
- Swearer, S. M., & Hymel, S. (2015). Understanding the psychology of bullying: Moving toward a social-ecological diathesis–stress model. *American Psychologist*, 70(4), 344-353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038929</u>
- Takizawa, R., Maughan, B., & Arseneault, L. (2014). Adult Health Outcomes of Childhood Bullying Victimization: Evidence From a Five-Decade Longitudinal British Birth Cohort. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 171(7), 777-784.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13101401

- Taylor, L. A., Climie, E. A., & Yue, M. W.-Y. (2020). The role of parental stress and knowledge of condition on incidences of bullying and ostracism among children with ADHD.
 Children's Health Care, 49(1), 20-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02739615.2018.1545580</u>
- Taylor, L. A., Saylor, C., Twyman, K., & Macias, M. (2010). Adding Insult to Injury: Bullying Experiences of Youth With Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Children's Health Care*, 39(1), 59-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02739610903455152</u>

- Theule, J., Wiener, J., Rogers, M. A., & Marton, I. (2011). Predicting Parenting Stress in Families of Children with ADHD: Parent and Contextual Factors. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 20(5), 640-647. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-010-9439-7</u>
- Theule, J., Wiener, J., Tannock, R., & Jenkins, J. M. (2013). Parenting Stress in Families of Children With ADHD:A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 21(1), 3-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426610387433</u>
- Tripp, G., Schaughency, E. A., Langlands, R., & Mouat, K. (2007). Family Interactions in Children With and Without ADHD. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 16(3), 385-400. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10826-006-9093-2</u>
- Tseng, W.-L., Kawabata, Y., Gau, S. S.-F., & Crick, N. R. (2014). Symptoms of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder and peer functioning: a transactional model of development. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 42(8), 1353-1365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-</u> 014-9883-8
- Turgay, A., & Ansari, R. (2006). Major Depression with ADHD: In Children and Adolescents. *Psychiatry*, *3*(4), 20–32.
- United States Census Bureau (2020). 2019 National Survey of Children's Health Methodology Report. https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/nsch/technicaldocumentation/methodology/2019-NSCH-Methodology-Report.pdf
- Vaillancourt, T., Trinh, V., McDougall, P., Duku, E., Cunningham, L., Cunningham, C., . . .
 Short, K. (2010). Optimizing Population Screening of Bullying in School-Aged Children.
 Journal of School Violence, 9(3), 233-250.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2010.483182

- Vaughn, M. G., Gu, Q., Bender, K., Delsi, M., Beaver, K. M., Perron, B. E., & Howard, M. O.
 (2010). Psychiatric correlates of bullying in the United States: Findings from a National Study. *Psychiatry Quarlerly*, *81*, 183-195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126.010.9128.0
- Verlinden, M., Jansen, P. W., Veenstra, R., Jaddoe, V. W. V., Hofman, A., Verhulst, F. C., . . . Tiemeier, H. (2015). Preschool attention-deficit/hyperactivity and oppositional defiant problems as antecedents of school bullying. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(7), 571-579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2015.05.002</u>
- Visser, S. N., Danielson, M. L., Bitsko, R. H., Holbrook, J. R., Kogan, M. D., Ghandour, R. M., .
 ... Blumberg, S. J. (2014). Trends in the parent-report of health care provider-diagnosed and medicated attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: United States, 2003-2011. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 53(1), 34-46.e32.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.09.001
- Volk, A. A., Veenstra, R., & Espelage, D. L. (2017). So you want to study bullying?
 Recommendations to enhance the validity, transparency, and compatibility of bullying research. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *36*, 34-43. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2017.07.003
- Walcott, C. M., & Landau, S. (2004). The Relation Between Disinhibition and Emotion
 Regulation in Boys with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33(4), 772-782.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp3304_12

Whalen, C. K., Odgers, C. L., Reed, P. L., & Henker, B. (2011). Dissecting daily distress in mothers of children with ADHD: An electronic diary study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 25(3), 402-411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023473</u>

- Wiener, J., & Mak, M. (2009). Peer victimization in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychology in the Schools*, 46(2), 116-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20358</u>
- Wilhelm, K. (2016). Parental Bonding and Adult Attachment Style: The Relationship between Four Category Models. *International Journal of Women's Health and Wellness*, 2. https://doi.org/10.23937/2474-1353/1510016
- Wåhlstedt, C., Thorell, L. B., & Bohlin, G. (2009). Heterogeneity in ADHD: neuropsychological pathways, comorbidity and symptom domains. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 37(4), 551-564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-008-9286-9</u>
- Yang, A., Li, X., & Salmivalli, C. (2016). Maladjustment of bully-victims: validation with three identification methods. *Educational Psychology*, 36(8), 1390-1407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2015.1015492</u>
- Yen, C. F., Yang, P., Wang, P. W., Lin, H. C., Liu, T. L., Wu, Y. Y., & Tang, T. C. (2014).
 Association between school bullying levels/types and mental health problems among Taiwanese adolescents. *Compr Psychiatry*, 55(3), 405-413.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.06.001

Zimmerman, M. A., Stoddard, S. A., Eisman, A. B., Caldwell, C. H., Aiyer, S. M., & Miller, A. (2013). Adolescent Resilience: Promotive Factors That Inform Prevention. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(4), 215-220. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12042

Zych, I., Farrington, D. P., & Ttofi, M. M. (2019). Protective factors against bullying and cyberbullying: A systematic review of meta-analyses. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 45, 4-19. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2018.06.008</u>

Jessica A. Simmons Vita

Contact:

11 King Arthur Dr., Unit 7G Niantic, CT 06357

Education:

Syracuse University	2017 – present
Department of Psychology, PhD in Clinical Psychology	
The University of Arizona Department of School Psychology, Master of Arts	2013 - 2015
Southern Connecticut State University Department of Psychology, Bachelor of Arts	2006 - 2010